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Numerex, the perfect partner in M2M.
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Dozens of global organizations depend on
Numerex's technology, networks, services,
and solutions — companies like GE Security,
DeWalt, and Tyco. Fortune 500 and other
companies use Numerex Networks™ and
customer care services in deploying their
fixed and mobile security applications.
They look to us not only for industry-leading
products and services, but for the expertise
and direct experience we have at simplifying
M2M deployments.

End-to-End Value

The year 2005 culminated with the landmark
cambining of two M2M industry leaders:
Numerex and Airdesk. Numerex's acquisition
of Airdesk helped secure our position as a
leader in wireless M2M and brought with it

a substantial customer base within industries
currently underserved by Numerex, such as
point-of-sale, utilities, and telemedicine.
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We believe that our role as /l) AIRDESK" + Numel‘e)(

“the perfect partner” is far

more than providing specific products and
services. Qur partners look to-us not only

to help integrate our wireless platform and
services with their devices and applications,
but also to assist them through the certifica-
tion, launch, and operation of their products
in their respective markets. Numerex's M2M
wireless solutions, combined with years

of success in building and managing fruitful
partnerships with our global partners, posi-
tions Numerex as the go-to, single-source
provider for end-to-end M2M.

Now part of Numerex's M2M Wireless
Group, the Airdesk Division now offers all
components of the M2M value chain, plus
turnkey wireless fixed and mobile solutions
to serve customers and partners who are
interested in a proven, fast track to market.

Leveraging Numerex's history, strength, and
legacy in wireless M2M communications,
CellemetryXG™ Network services will become
anintegral part of the Airdesk wireless
M2M offering in 2006, providing technology,
network, integration, design, and support for
fixed and mobile solutions.

Our portfolio of products and services grows
with the integration of Airdesk with Numerex,
as does the Numerex team. Our management
ranks have been broadened and further
solidified with a group of seasoned M2M
people who understand, like their Numerex
associates, how to serve a partner in taking
a wireless M2M product to market, either as
a stand-alone product that can be integrated
into a broader application or a full end-to-
end solution.
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W Numerex M2 Solutions

Dear Fellow Shareholders:

In 2005, Numerex significantly advanced its vision in the wireless
machine-to-machine (M2M) industry. Last year | shared my thoughts
with you about the burgeoning M2M industry and Numerex's role
as a leader in bringing wireless fixed and mabile solutions and
network services to this emerging market. Our role as pioneer

and leader in bringing these solutions to market was embo!dened
as we partnered with new industry leaders to deliver innovative
products and services. We further solidified our position in 2005
as a preferred partner in “Powering M2M” with the introduction
of our new suite of digital wireless M2M networks and solutions.
We continued to expand our roster as the respected partner

to leading organizations as we furthered our reputation as the
“go-to” source for expertise, network services, technology and
solutions within significant markets. Our unique model of integrating
our technology and networks with our customers’ applications,
while providing critical end-to-end support, was further validated
by industry leaders who recagnize the value Numerex provides
the M2M market as “more than the network.”

Strategically, 2005 was a year in which we made significant
advancements within new vertical sectors as we continued the
rapid migration of our existing M2M solutions to digital platforms.
These digital offerings represent expanded sales opportunities,
initially with the release of Digital Uplink early in 2006, followed
by additional mabile solutions to further strengthen Numerex’s
offerings to our M2M partners and customers.

Among our most significant of accomplishments in 2005, we
solidified our position as one of the most comprehensive wireless
M2M network and solutions providers with our acquisition of .
Airdesk, effective January 1, 2006. Through this acquisition, two
experienced sales forces combine to reach multiple market
segments across the U.S., Canada, and Latin America with fixed
and maobile M2M solutions. The alignment of Numerex Networks
and services with Airdesk’s digital M2M portfolio of products and
radio modules creates a “single-source” positioning for Numerex.
In support of our continued commitment to expanding our M2M
offerings, Airdesk brings extensive expertise in multiple vertical

mm
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segments —including fleet management and point-of-sales
terminals — to Numerex’s proven experience in developing

OEM and custom M2M solutions, especially in security and
asset tracking.

A review of customer and sales activities in 2005 demonstrates
the strength of our existing and new product and service offerings.
Specifically, we accomplished the following milestanes in 2005;

* Best year ever for Uplink, our wireless security business.
Recurring revenues for Uplink grew sequentially in 26 out of the
last 27 quarters, with record customer installs and unit sales.

* The release of DigiCell AnyNET technology, which supports
access to Numerex's digital network by wireless applications.

* DeWalt/ Black & Decker partnership ta deliver unique job-site
security solutions for the construction industry.

* Expansion of carrier alliances, providing continued and expanded
network service in North America, the Caribbean, and Mexico.

* Participation in multi-year rollout of an education application
involving one of the largest planned wireless M2M deployments
in North America used to monitor network equipment and usage.

* Launch of digital services used to monitor and manage vending
machines in Mexico, serving multiple customers in bottling and
vending operations.

* Exceptional growth of mobile tracking and recovery solutions
through our refationship with our primary private-label distributor
to the new car market.

«Securing new partners for our private-labe! mabile M2M
solutions focused in the after-market automotive, finance, and
security segments. These partners have opened new channels
and revenue opportunities in underserved markets. Qur mobile
M2M solutions will continue to grow with new applications
to serve these new channels.

*New partnerships with technology leaders to expand our solution
offerings for both fixed and mobile applications.

* Expansion of our leadership and management teams with a group
of seasoned M2M professionals who understand our business
and the needs of our partner and customer communities.




Perhaps our most gratifying accomplishment, as a result of these
achievements, was a return to profitability on a consistent basis,
ending the year with three successive profitable quarters.
Full-year revenues of almost $30 million increased $7 million or
30% from 2004. Nearly all of this increase came from our wireless
division where 2005 revenues grew 53% compared to 2004.

| am also proud to report that we substantially strengthened our
balance sheet by boistering our cash position, while dramatically
reducing our debt levels.

Numerex continues to advance its vision of removing the
complexities associated with the deployment of M2M solutions
through proven capabilities and a suite of branded and custom-
developed M2M solutions for virtually every industry and appli-
cation. As we focus on the successful execution of key initiatives,
we position Numerex for further growth within an expanding
industry. We believe we can cantinue and accelerate our growth
and improved profitability as we focus on our solutions through
integration, network, marketing, and distribution objectives in 2006.
Over 2006 we will continue to:
* Penetrate the growing M2M market through our two M2M
Wireless Solutions Divisions — Uplink and Airdesk — establishing

new partnerships and vertical offerings in fixed and mobile
segments through our branded and private-label solutions.

* Grow distribution of our private-label vehicle tracking solution
as we bring additional mobile M2M solutions to market through
Airdesk and its partners.

¢ Leverage and build on our Uplink platform to develop and market
private-label sclutions for fixed-asset monitoring.

« Fulfill our digital migration product strategy to provide the most
flexible, comprehensive, “single-source” network solutions on
digital network platforms, while providing continued support for
legacy network customers and partners.

« Selectively and aggressively pursue wireless M2M opportunities
across a broad host of vertical segments that we believe lend
themselves to the production of long-term recurring revenues.

* Further develop Numerex Networks with added network
services, capabilities, and support services to provide new
offerings. We will combine emerging wireless technologies
and solutions to build and solidify our leading industry position.

* Maintain the highest possible quality of service, critical support,
customer support, and response.

As a result of the momentum we achieved in 2005 as well as the
impact of new initiatives already underway, | believe Numerex
will continue reflecting strong growth in wireless revenues in 2006
and beyond.

Bringing together the talented and dedicated teams from Numerex
and Airdesk offers new and exciting opportunities for innovation
and growth in 2006. We believe that our efforts, in combination
with the involvement of our partners, customers, and shareholders,
will allow Numerex to enjoy another year of product and service

- leadership in the M2M market.

Sincerely,

s

Stratton Nicolaides
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Numerex Wi2M Wireless Solutions
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Numerex Wireless
Solutions

Uplink Security Solutions
Uplink™ is a leading wireless security
solution that transmits alarm messages to
virtually any alarm receiving center (ARC)
central station. In the event of an alarm,
monitoring services and customers receive
alarm signals via central station receivers,
phone, Web, email, SMS messaging, or
an alphanumeric page. With over 4,500
dealers and 200 monitoring companies
available to deliver Uplink products and
services, we are a market leader in
wireless alarm-event communications.
Digital Uplink entered the market early in
2006, offering the same features and value
with added flexibility and operation on
digital, legacy, and hybrid networks.

eze Uplink’

Division of Numerex

Airdesk M2M Fixed Solutions

Airdesk Fixed Solutions wirelessly mon-
itor and manage remote assets. These
solutions use a secure, dedicated wireless
connection to deliver alarms, events,

or machine data for a variety of applica-
tions. For any fixed asset requiring remote
management and monitaring, Airdesk
delivers comprehensive, start-to-finish
M2M solutions. Areas of focus for
Airdesk’s fixed solutions include telemetry,
asset management, utilities, healthcare,
and SCADA applications.

SEB AIRD=ESK”
UD. =S A

A Division of Numerex

Airdesk M2M Mobile Solutions

Airdesk Mobile Solutions provide a variety
of mobile vehicle and asset-tracking and
location solutions. From fleet management
to cargo tracking to mabile inventory
management, Airdesk’s mobile solutions
wirelessly track and transmit movement,
event notifications, or theft alerts over
the Numerex Netwaork to Web-based
interfaces that allow for immediate
location and appropriate action.

Airdesk AVL Solution

Airdesk AVL" is our O0EM wireless
vehicle-location and recovery solution
that combines the accuracy of GPS
{Global Positioning System}, the Numerex
Wireless Network, and wireless communi-
cations technology to provide reliable

and timely tracking and location infor-
mation in the event of car theft — as well

as on-demand tracking information on
friends and family throughout their travels.
Airdesk AVL s the end-to-end product

of choice servicing the automotive vehicle-
tracking and location market. During 2006,
we will introduce a next-generation digital
mobile tracking and recovery solution,
offering additional flexibility and network
options for our partners and end users.




Flexible Technology

Numerex M2M Wireless Divisions provide a wide selection of embedded devices from leading industry partners including Wavecom,
Kyocera, Sony Ericsson, Sierra Wireless, and Enfora, along with our own manufactured technology, the DigiCell® AnyNET. From utilities
to fleet management, security to vehicle tracking, Numerex can provide and integrate the right technology for digital, legacy, and hybrid
network applications. Our M2M technology provides flexibility and reliability to our partners’ offerings and our own branded solutions.

Our existing technology partnerships are well established. For example, in 2005 our Airdesk Division was awarded “Distributor of the Year”
by Wavecom atthe global distribution conference held in Marrakech, Morocco. With more than 200,000 Wavecom modules in the field,
and Wavecom-related revenue growth of 120% in 2005 over 2004, Airdesk earned top honors from Wavecom, further solidifying their leading
position in the M2M embedded solutions marketplace.

Numerex Networks

Whether CDMA, GSM, or hybrid networks,
Numerex Networks offer the most com-
prehensive M2M network services avail-
able, with reliable network coverage,
legacy interoperability, and a vision and
strategy for the future.

Our extensive carrier
relationships enable our ‘ O
partners and end users to U\
receive comprehensive O
network coverage and
flexibility. Supporting
legacy, CDMA, and GSM wireless delivery
across North America and the Caribbean,
aswell as IP interfaces and integration,
our diverse hardware offerings are easily
integrated with the right network services,
resulting in superior performance, reduced
deployment efforts, and faster time to
market.

Riding on
Numerex Networks

Numerex Networks and our solutions
divisions combine the industry’s most
reliable, value-focused network services
with intuitive and highly-focused technology
and expert partners to deliver the spectrum
of fixed and mobile end-to-end M2M
solutions. Known as “more than the
network,” Numerex Networks provide
arange of value-added services beyond
network connectivity:

» Certified Monitoring and Communication
Devices that can be easily integrated to
get our client’s customers up and running
quickly.

* Numerex's Carrier-Grade Network
Operations Center, which works 24 hours
a day to safeguard and manage data and
overall solution performance. We never
close for business.

* Web Management Tools, which enable
convenient, 24/7 access to important
information and administrative functions
through an intuitive Web interface.

* Network Data Plans, which facilitate and
extend partner sales efforts with services
and special rates made possible through
our unique relationships.

« Fast Track Certification, which delivers
the quickest possible certification
of M2M devices by the carriers and
governing bodies.

¢ AirSource™ Knowledgebase and Help-
Desk System, which provides access
to the industry’s most comprehensive
database of M2M information containing
over 9,000 documents.

* Virtual Private Network (VPN) for
Development that helps our partners
develop and test applications by using
a Virtual Private Network between our
network and their development servers.

* Rigorous Testing that enables testing
of all equipment, routing, monitoring,
and firewalls prior to deployment.
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Numerex
Professional Services

We augment our product and service
offerings with a dedicated professional
services team that provides expert
integration support, certification and
regulatory support, and project management
support to help ensure successful M2M
implementations. Professional services
are delivered across the M2M value chain,
fram analysis and planning to project
management to the development of Weh
interfaces and private-label solutions.
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Numerex Djgital Multimedia Solutions

In addition to our wireless M2l business, Numeresx designs, develops, and markels complste video
conferencing and digital multimedia system products and services for bigh-g %&@M&‘/ communications

n

networks. We manufacture products opon which digital multimedia systems are based, as wall as

o O o

incorporate third-party products where appropriate to provide the most compelling marlke! offaring

S
9

[ Solutions

BNI has been providing complete system
solutions to a wide range of applications,
including corporate communications,
training, distance learning, and private
cable TV for more than 15 years. OQur core
business is focused on two market seg-
ments, video conferencing and broadband
networking. Through BNI, we offer a wide
range of innovative, cost-effective inter-
active video applications. BNI products
and services include:

* PowerPlay™, an IP-based video
conferencing solution that delivers
a standards-compliant multipoint
hardware solution with capabilities
thatare unrivaled in the industry.

*|PContact®, a software-only video
conferencing application that sup-
plements PowerPlay by providing
high-quality, multipoint video on
desktop or faptop PCs.

« System Solution Services, wide area
network implementation using in-house
manufactured products and products
supplied by third parties.

Digilog

Digilog is focused on integrating and
deploying network monitoring and fault
management solutions for leading com-
panies in the telecommunications sector.
Digilog’s proven solutions consist of
centrally controlled Network Access and
Monitoring System (NAMS) software,
Channel Access Units (CAU), and remotely
controlied test instruments, such as
protocol analyzers. Digilog's NSS Il test
access nodes have monitored more than
95,000 circuits in more than 30 countries
worldwide.

DCX Systems

Numerex Wireline Solutions

Numerex subsidiary DCX Systems designs,

manufactures, and markets Derived
Channel Wireline Security Netwarks
throughout the United States and Australia,
Multiple telecommunications service
providers are currently offering alarm
transport services using DCX Systems’
Derived Channel Networks. Using DCX
Systems’ Derived Channe! Network,
operating telephone companies, alarm
industry manufacturers, distributors, and
installing alarm companies can leverage
Derived Channel technology to service
customers and expand revenues.

805 ANNUAL REPORT



Corporate Address
Numerex Corp.

1600 Parkwood Circle, SE
Fifth Floor

Atlanta, GA 30339

{770) 693-5950

(770) 693-5951 (Fax)
WWW.NMrx.com

Form 10-K Investor Contact
Additional caopies of the Company's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for 2005 {without
exhibits), 10-Q, and other SEC reports are
available from the Company at no charge
and may be accessed from the Investor
Relations section of the Company’s Web
site at www.nmrx.com. Other investor
contacts should be directed to Alan B.
Catherall, Chief Financial Officer, at the
Company’s corporate office.

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting
The annual meeting of shareholders

will be held on Friday, May 12, 2008,

at11 a.m. local time, at The Parkwood Room,
Hawthorn Suites, 1500 Parkwaood Circle,
Atlanta, GA 30339.

Registrar and Transfer Agent
Continental Stock Transfer
and Trust Company
2 Broadway, 19th Floor
New York, NY 10004

Independent Accountants
Grant Thornton LLP

Marquis One

Suite 300

245 Peachtree Center Ave, NE
Atlanta, GA 30303

=
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Officers and Directors

Officers

Stratton Nicoléides
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Alan Catherall
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer

Michael A. Marett
Executive Vice President,
Chief Operating Officer

Board of Directors

Brian C. Beazer
Non-Executive Chairman
of Beazer Homes USA, Inc.

George Benson

Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of Wisconsin Wireless
Communications Corporation

Nicholas A. Davidge

Technology and Business Consultant,
Founder of Davidge Data Systems

Matthew J. Flanigan

President of the Telecommunications

Industry Trade Association

Allan H. Liu
President of The China Retail
Fund, LDC

Stratton Nicolaides
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

John G. Raos

Lead Independent Director,
President, and Chief Executive
Officer, Precision Partners, Inc.

Andrew J. Ryan
Partner, Salisbury & Ryan, LLP




UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

" Washington, D.C. 20549
: FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
For the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2005
or
[ ] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission File No, 0-22920
NUMEREX CORP.
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)
Pennsylvania 11-2948749
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (IRS Employer Identification No.)
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Atlanta, Georgia - 30339-2119
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Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None
Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. YesO No ™

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15 (d) of the
Act.  YesDO No ™

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ™ No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§229.405 of this chapter) is
not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information
statements incorporated by reference in Part 111 of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. ™
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based on the closing price of the registrant’s common stock as reported on the NASDAQ National Market on June 30, 2005,
was $35,830,784. For purposes of this computation, all officers, directors, and 10% beneficial owners of the registrant are
deemed to be affiliates. Such determination should not be deemed to be an admission that such officers, directors, or 10%
beneficial owners are, in fact, affiliates of the registfant.

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s Class A Common Stock as of March 13, 2006, was 12,570,519 shares.
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Certain portions of the Company’s Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with its 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders are
incorporated by reference in Part 11I of this Report.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This document contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 274 of the Securities Act of 1933 and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements include, among other things, statements regarding trends,
strategies, plans, beliefs, intentions, expectations, goals and opportunities. Forward-looking statements are typically identified by
words or phrases such as “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “assume,” 'strategy,” “plan,” “outlook,”
“outcome,” “continue,” “vemain,” “trend,” and variations of such words and similar expressions, or future or conditional verbs
such as “will,” “would,” “should,” “could,” “may,” or similar expressions. All statements and information herein and incorporated
by reference herein, other than statements of historical fact, ave forward-looking statements that are based upon a number of
assumpltions concerning future conditions that ultimately may prove to be inaccurate. Many phases of the Company’s operations are
subject to influences outside its control. The Company cautions that these forward-looking statements are subject to numerous
assumptions, risks and uncertainties, which change over time. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this
Annual Report, and the Company assumes no duty to update forward-looking statements. Actual results could differ. materially from
those anticipated in these forward-looking statements and future results could differ materially from historical performance.

Any one or any combination of factors could have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations or could cause
actual results to differ materially from forward-looking statements or historical performance. These factors include: the pace of
technological change, variations in quarterly operating results; delays in the development, introduction and marketing of new
wireless products and services; customer acceptance of products and services; economic conditions, the inability to attain revenue
and earnings growth; changes in interest rates, inflation; the introduction, withdrawal, success and timing of business initiativés and
strategies; competitive conditions; the extent and timing of technological changes; changes in customer spending; the loss of
intellectual property protection; general economic conditions and conditions affecting the capital markets. Actual events,
developments and results could differ materially from those anticipated or projected in the forward-looking statements as a result of
certain uncertainties set forth below and elsewhere in this document. Subsequent written or oral statements attributable 1o the
Company or persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements in this report and those
in the Company’s reports previously and subsequently filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

PART 1
Item 1. Business

Overview

Numerex Corp. is a wireless machine-to-machine (M2M) communications, technology and solutions business. We combine
our network services, products, and application development capabilities to create innovative packaged and custom-designed
M2M offerings for customers across multiple market segments. We make possible real-time wireless data communications,
monitoring, tracking, and service management tailored to the needs of each application and industry, such as vehicle location
and tracking, wireless security solutions, utilities, vending, and remote device monitoring. In addition to our core M2M
business, we market proprietary digital multimedia products for video conferencing and data collaboration to the educational
and distance learning markets. We also provide networking and integration services to major telecommunications companies.
We primarily serve customers throughout the United States, Canada and Latin America.

M2M is defined as electronic (wireless) data communication between people, devices and systems that turns data into
actionable information. M2M addresses the needs of such industries as security, vending, the automotive aftermarket,
healthcare, gas and oil, utilities and others — and diverse applications, including remote monitoring, vehicle location and
tracking, fleet management, telemedicine, meter reading, and more.

Ovwer the past three years, as M2M has emerged as a robust and growing industry, we have established and maintained a market
leading position, with our fixed and mobile solutions. We market and sell these products and services through our Airdesk™
and Uplink™ Wireless Divisions. End-to-end branded solutions include Uplink™, MobileGuardian™ and VendView™, In
addition, “white label” products and solutions are available for distribution through Value Added Resellers (VARSs) and OEMs,
which integrate various Numerex products and services into their own offerings. Other product and service offerings provided
by the wireless divisions include Wireless Data Networks, Network Services, Network Access Technology, and private-labeled
application development and customer support. ’

In addition to providing solutions through our M2M Wireless Divisions, we develop and market products and services for
video and data collaboration through our Digital Multimedia Division under the PowerPlay™ and IPContact™ brands. We also
market telecommunications networking support and wireline products and services through our Digilog™ and DCX™ brands.

While we are primarily focused on delivering wireless M2ZM service to almost any vertical sector, we have developed industry-
specific expertise in wireless security, mobile tracking and asset recovery, as well as remote asset management. As a result,
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many leading M2M organizations partner with us not only for development and integration of our wireless platform to their
device and application, but also to assist them through the complexities of launching a product into their markets.

As a result, we provide much more than network connectivity to our partners. And we are always locking to expand our
expertise by entering, through partnering relationships into new vertical sectors conducive to our long-term recurring revenue
model.

Our strategic vision is to be recognized as the leading provider of M2M wireless solutions for customers in our target markets

by: ) : . . ‘

»  Providing best-in-class solutions to the M2M communications market and expanding our success in mobile and fixed .
security and remote monitoring into other market segments across all industries.

»  Creating a culture of excellence in customer service and product integrity through innovation and vigilance.

e Delivering quality products and services that meet and anticipate the evolving needs of cur customners.

»  Striving to be “The Perfect Partner” -- a single-stop shop for M2M technology, solutions and support.

¢ Enhancing shareholder value through a financial mode! of sustainable growth based on long-term recurring service
revenues.

Background

Our business began in July 1992 with the acquisition of technology referred to as “Derived Channel”, which enables data
transmission over an existing telephone line without interfering with voice communications over that same telephone line. We
expanded our business primarily through the acquisition of complementary businesses, product lines, and proprietary
technologies. In November 1999, we sold the Derived Channel technology to British Telecommunications PLC (“BT™).

In May 1998, Numerex Corp., BellSouth Corporation and BeliSouth Wireless, now “Cingular,” completed a transaction
whereby Cellemetry LLC, a joint venture between Numerex and Cingular, was formed. Cellemetry LL.C provides a cost-
effective, two-way wireless data communications network throughout the United States, Canada, Mexico, Colombia,
Argentina, Paragnay, the Dutch Antilles, and Puerto Rico, with plans for further expansion into other intemational markets. On
March 28, 2003, we acquired Cingular’s interest in Cellemetry LLC.

Three distinct business groups operate within Numerex: Wireless Data Communications, Digital Multimedia and Wireline. Qur
Wireless Data Communications Group is made up of Cellemetry, Mobile Guardian, Uplink and VendView offerings. Our
Digital Multimedia Group is comprised of BNI Solutions and Digilog. Our Wireline group is DCX. -

In early 2006, we completed the acquisition of Airdesk. The acquisition of Airdesk, with its years of experience in the M2M
market, helps secure our position as a premiere provider of wireless M2M products and services. In addition, Airdesk brings a
substantial customer base of end users as well as partners who offer their own M2M services within a variety of vertical
industries that we currently do not serve. These include point-of-sale, utilities, healthcare, fleet management, and others.

Through our Airdesk Division, we will offer a variety of wireless network, critical support services and end-to-end solutions to
our newly acquired customer base as well as the- management of our customers withi' the exception of Uplink’s security
customers. Airdesk will now be equipped with new comprehensive fixed and mobile wireless data solutions and network
services, as well as additional technical support'services to better serve our combmed customer base and strategic partners
across the board.

SEGMENT 1 — WIRELESS DATA COMMUNICATIONS DIVISION

Machine-to-Machine Communications (M2M)

Our MZM solutions are evolving to continually support our position as an M2M market leader. We have established our
business through product and service delivery in four categories: end-to-end solutions, networks, network services, and
network access technology. End-to-end solutions have typically been delivered under their own distinct brands -- including
Uplink, MobileGuardian and VendView — whlle all non end-to-end solutions have historically been delivered under the
Cellemetry or CellemetryXG brand.

As the strengths.of Numerex and Airdesk are integrated to provide the best solutions for partners and customers, Airdesk will
serve as Numerex’s wireless M2M products and services division, offering all components of the M2M value chain for fixed
and mobile applications. For branded security solutions, Numerex’s wireless M2M division will continue to grow its successful
Uplink wireless security solutions under the Uplink Division. In addition, Numerex’s turnkey wireless platforms will be
offered through Airdesk to customers and partners not interested in building their own products. We currently offer end-to-end
solutions to resellers and developers who seek private-labeled solutions designed to rapidly enter their markets.
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Fixed End-to-End Solutions
Uplink™: Wireless Security Communications

Uplink is a dedicated wireless cormunications solution for security monitoring that reports the alarms, status, and messages
generated by security systems. Uplink delivers this solution by providing a secure, dedicated cellular link and network access
module that transmits alarms to virtually any alarm-receiving center or monitoring service.

A stand-alone sensor, alarm panel output, or alarm panel serial connection provides the trigger to one of Uplink’s family of
network access modules, which in turn transmits the alarm event over the Numerex data networks. The Numerex Gateway
accepts the incoming signal and logs it for immediate viewing through the password-secured Web interface. Depending on the
selected reporting options and alarm monitoring station receiver, the decoded signal can be forwarded via encrypted 1P or
PSTN to the alarm mionitoring station. As an option, a customizable text message can be sent to any email-enabled.device or to
an alphanumeric pager. The Uplink Network Operations Center in Atlanta activates and manages the service for its dealers.

As part of Numerex’s Wireless Data Division, we continue development of Digital Uplink, with new hardware products
including the Digicell AnyNet and Digital 1650. We also continue our focus on providing private-label fixed solutions in the
tradition of Uplink, as well as developing new mobile solutions appropriate for Uplink customers. We plan to launch Uplink’s
next generation “Digital Uplink” in early 2006.

Uplink Sales and Marketing

Uplink is distributed through master distributors to a network of over 4,500 certified Uplink alarm and security dealers in North
America for both commercial and residential alarm security markets. Uplink private label and custom services are marketed
through direct business development and partnering initiatives. Our planned product initiatives for Uplink in 2006 include a
suite of new digital offerings. ‘

VendView™ Wireless Vénding Solution

VendView, a product and service offering, is a dedicated wireless vending machine monitoring solution that combines wireless
network access modules, monitoring devices, and the Numerex wireless data network. Once installed in vending machines, the
devices rteport critical data, such as inventory levels, machine operating information (i.e., temperature levels), and
authorized/unauthorized entry into the vending machine. The information is encrypted and available to the customer through a
secure VendView Internet portal. This application is particularly valuable to vending operators that have machines widely
dispersed in large geographic areas or in remote locations and where wireline communications are unavailable or unreliable.

VendView™ Sales and Marketing

VendView is currently marketed and sold directly to boitlers in the United States, Mexico, and the Caribbean. In 2005 we
ceased product development and marketing initiatives related to VendView. Instead, we have partnered with an industry
leading vending solution to jointly provide vending solutions based on their technology and Numerex’s Network and Services.
Under this arrangement Numerex will private-label and market the end-to-end vending solution under the VendView brand.
Our contribution to the solution includes our network services. QOur technology partner is providing technology for installation
in the vending machines and the back-end application. Our technology partner will also market the product under their own
brand with network services provided by Numerex. ' ‘

Mobile End-To-End Selutions
MobileGuardian™: Wireless Vehicle Location and Recovery

MobileGuardian, a product and service offering, is a Web-based vehicle location and recovery solution that combines the
accuracy of the GPS (Global Positioning System), the Numerex Network and wireless communications technology.

If the alarm system of a vehicle equipped with MobileGuardian is triggered, .2 message is sent to the MobileGuardian device
located in the vehicle, which then wirelessly transmits a theft alert notification over the Numerex Data Network to the vehicle’s
owner via the owner’s wireless phone, email, or pager. The owner may logon to the secure MobileGuardian Web site to send
an immediate locate request to the vehicle; the owner may then remotely disable the vehicle at the touch of a button and
prevent it from being restarted while he or she calls the authorities to report the theft and give them the location of the vehicle.
Being able to immediately and accurately report the location of the stolen vehicle and prevent its further movement improves
the chances that the owner will recover the vehicle and generalily shortens the timeframes in which such recovery occurs.
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A vehicle’s owner also can use the MobileGuardian system to simply track his or her vehicle even if its alarm system has not
been triggered. Via the MobileGuardian website, MobileGuardian owners can purchase additional “locates,” or messaging,
beyond those allotted at the time of purchase in order to track or disable his or her vehicle at any time.

MobileGuardian Sales and Marketing

Our primary distribution strategy for MobileGuardian involves multiple sales channels that service auto dealerships and the
finance providers that serve auto sales. Currently, Southwest Dealer Services is the primary product sales channel for the
MobileGuardian™ branded solution in the new car market. The dealer/distributor typically installs the MobileGuardian™

product at the auto dealership location . Our Network Operations Center in Atlanta provides application and network support to
dealers.

In addition, through our new Airdesk Division we continue to aggressively target new distributors to deliver MobileGuardian™
as a private-label mobile tracking and recovery solution into a variety of markets, including the sub-prime markets.

We believe that MobileGuardian is competitively priced and offers value-added features, such as extensive network coverage,
immediate notification of a breach and/or activation of the vehicle’s alarm system and vehicle tracking. We believe
MobileGuardian is competitively well positioned in the established vehicle location and recovery markets both as a branded

solution and as a private-label, digital mobile tracking and recovery solution. We plan to release MobileGuardian’s next-
generation, Digital MobileGuardian, in 2006.

Networks and Network Services
Airdesk® M2M Solutions with Numerex Networks

Going forward, the Airdesk Division will be the umbrella M2M brand that provides our M2M solutions, Numerex Network,
and an array of solution services that support the M2M value chain. These services include specific, vertically focused M2M
applications combined with-our Numerex Network and services. Numerex services offered through Airdesk are comprised of
application engineering and development, customized billing, GPS mapping for mobile applications, network and application

implementation management, back-end message delivery management, apphcatlon and network support, and interactive voice
and Web services.

Airdesk customers receive 7/24/365 network support from our Network Operations Center in Atlanta, Georgia. We believe
that Airdesk provided application engineering and development services help reduce the development and engineering time for
applications by providing most of the information and resources necessary to more rapidly bring applications to market. In
many instances customers seeking M2M solutions are not equipped to develop the application internally. They may dominate
a market and see an opportunity for an M2M product in that particular market but lack the expertise to develop the product.
DeWalt is a good example. DeWalt dominates the construction tool market and saw the opportunity for an M2M security

produci for that market. Instead of attempting to build the product from scratch DeWalt has relied on Numerex’s expertise to
rapidly develop and deploy the solution.

With the establishment of the Airdesk Division, we anticipate rlebranding the existing CellemetryXG solutions, including the
Numerex Network, making them an integral part of the Airdesk wireless M2M platform and offering.

Numerex Network

Serving Airdesk and Uplink, the Numerex Network is capable of supporting a variety of remote applications that are either
fixed or mobile. From GSM and CDMA digital and Cellemetry network offerings, to premium 24/7/365 network support
services, Numerex Networks support continued expansive coverage, legacy network interoperability, and expanded gateway
capabilities for higher bandwidth M2M applications. The Numerex Network provides extensive digital and analog wireless
network services and coverage in the Continental US, Canada, the Caribbean, and Mexico.

Cellemetry® Network, a Numerex Legacy

The term “Cellemetry” is an acronym that stands for cellular telemetry and is used when referring to the technology developed
and offered historically by Cellemetry LLC. Numerex was a pioneer in offering analog data network services and products
even before M2M emerged as an industry with vast market opportunities. For years, Cellemetry has been the largest wireless
data network (analog) in the Western Hemisphere, tapping the unused capacity of the cellular telephone network’s overhead
control channels and the SS7/1S-41/18-95 network protocols to deliver two-way  short data messages. CellemetryXG emerged
as Numerex’s end-to-end offering of wireless network technology, devices and services in 2005. Cellemetry will continue to
offer CDMA-based control channel network service beyond the phase-out of analogue-based control channel, expected to take
place in February 2008, or thereabout, pursuant to the FCC’s mandate. After the phase-out, wireless network operators, such
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as Cingular ‘and Verizon, will no longer obligated to support their analogue networks. Recently, Cingular announced its
intention to not continue support of analogue after February 2008 or shortly thereafter. Even though the FCC may extend the
February 2008 date, we anticipate the phase-out as inevitable and have taken steps to transition our network offerings to GSM,
GPRS, CDMA, IXRTT, and various SMS-based technology. We have accomplished this by securing long-term agreements
with certain wireless network operators that offer GSM and CDMA service. Our network infrastructure inclhudes gateway and
switching technology similar to that used by other wireless network operators.

As advanced wireless technology, networks, and devices have emerged, Numerex Network offerings -- including digital
networks and new network access modules -- have also evolved to bring partners and customers the most flexibility and
options for their specific M2M requirements. Going forward, Numerex’s end-to-end wireless network offerings will begin
migration from the traditional Cellemetry offering to Numerex Network digital network and services. Network services will be
delivered through the Airdesk and Uplink Wireless Divisions of our Wireless Data Communications organization.

Network Access Technology

We design, develop, manufacture and market a suite of network access modules (wireless data modems) that provide the
physical and electrical interface between the customer’s application and the Numerex Network. Examples of the various
Numerex-manufactured modules include the DigiCell 1500, Digicell AnyNet, and Uplink 1650 used for security applications
and FT-GPS used for mobile applications. The Network Modules are configurable as generic product offerings for VAR
application development, as fully configured modutes for OEM integration, or as a component of our end-to-end solutions.

We also source Network Access Technology from industry partners in order to deliver a wider portfolio of products and
services.

With our acquisition of Airdesk, we became the number one distributor of Wavecom radio modules in North America.
Wavecom is a leading manufacturer of compact, rugged and reliable radio modules. Radio modules are only one component in
an M2M solution. Support, integration, application development, networks, web services, etc. are all added to the radio
module to provide a full end-to-end solution. Numerex intends to enhance the Airdesk distribution model for Wavecom and
other radio modules by offering these added services to this growing customer base

SEGMENT 2 — DIGITAL MULTIMEDIA AND NETWORKING
Digital Multimedia Products and Services

Through our Digital Multimedia Division, we design, develop, and market complete video conferencing and digital multimedia
system products and services for high-quality communications networks through the use of high-speed wide area networks
(WAN). We offer this service either as a data-only capability or as part of delivering the PowerPlay application discussed
below. Our high-speed data solutions enable network operators to provide a wide range of video and data services, incliding
Internet access, high-speed data transfer, and interactive video conferencing and voice service. The use of fiber optics in our
broadband transmission network provides improved signal quality for long-distance transmission, increased bandwidth,
immunity to interfering signals, and significant cost savings and reliability over coaxial cable-based network technologies. We
believe that our digital multimedia systems enable the deployment of sophisticated archxtectures at generally lower costs and
with less hardware and complexity than competing offerings.

PowerPlay™: We have developed, and continue to enhance, a line of software, data, and fiber optic transmission products, In
addition, we have developed a digital multimedia solution for high-bandwidth private network applications. PowerPlay is an
integrated hardware-software system that supports user-friendly control of all network devices, including VCRs, cameras, and
switches. It allows interactive videoconferencing over the same network platform that carries standard data traffic. PowerPlay
permits the scheduling and conduct of video conferencing via a desktop workstation, a roll-about cart, or a configured
classroom or business. environment. The PowerPlay system incorporates proprietary software and both Company and third-
party-developed hardware, and is compatible with all standards-based transmission networks. We believe that PowerPlay is
unique in its capability to deliver full-motion video signals while using a relatively small amount of bandwidth.

IPContact™: IPContact, which supplements PowerPlay, is a desktop videoconferencing software version that boasts high-
quality and high-performance video. IPContact is also available as a customer support tool within the Numerex Network
service offerings.

System Solution Services: We design and implement wide area networks using in-house manufactured products and products
supplied by third parties. We also train end users as an integral aspect of providing complete system solutions. We believe our
total system solution focus differentiates us from our competitors while providing an additional source of revenue growth.




Sales and Marketing

We market our digital multimedia products and services through a combination of system integrators and VARs. We have
established relationships with a number of multiple system cable operators (MSOs), which generally look to private networks
such as those we help develop as a means of augmenting and extending their public networks, and as a source of new revenues
in the increasingly competitive environment.

We have developed relationships with a number of traditional systems integrators under which we have provided system
design services and have assisted with the installation of our video conferencing and digital multimedia system products. We
believe that systems integrators provide a viable avenue to the market and intend to continue to expand our efforts in this area.

Networking Products and Services

In the last decade the telecommunications industry has changed its networks to establish, control, and track connections. The
improved network is responsible for most.of the enhanced communication services implemented in the last few years. Using
Signaling System Seven (SS7) protocol, the improved network has allowed for call forwarding, last-number redial, call
blocking, and many other telephone features offered today. In addition, federal guidelines now mandate Local Number

Portability (LNP), a capability that allows customers to keep the same telephone number should they change wireless phone
carriers. .

We provide products under the Digilog brand that assist both wireline and wireless carriers in the engineering, installation, and
servicing of this new telecommunications control network. These telecommunications network operational support systems and
services can be categorized as: Services, including system integration (rack and stack) and installation, Test Access, and
Interconnecting Devices. : '

System Integration (rack and stack) and Installation: We are approved to provide installation services for a number of major
telecommunications companies. We also provide system integration services. Integration services are the assembly of both

customer-supplied components and components manufactured by Digilog™ into rack and cabinet configurations for
installation in the telephone central office.”

Test Access: The Digilog Network Analysis and Monitoring System (NAMS) is a network overlay system that enables a user
to monitor the operation of the SS7 network from a central site. The system provides prompt alarm notification of a network
failure, automatic activation of backup devices, and a means to track down operational database errors. In this application, we
supply the access products and the system software in partnership with Agilent Technologies, which supplies the remote-
controlled Protocol Analyzers.

Interconnecting Devices: Our Digilog Channel Access Unit (CAU) product provides the physical interconnection between the
SS7 network and complex monitoring devices such as the AcceSS7 system .from a major telecommunications equipment
provider. It was developed to meet a strong need to interconnect several applications monitoring computers to a single network
tap point. In addition to the CAU, our interconnect products include resistor panels, special cables, fuse panels, and the
integration of other third-party equipment.

Sales and Marketing

Our networking products are sold and marketed under the Digilog brand. Distribution is focused on wireless and wireline
telecommunications companies through system integration agreements with Agilent and other suppliers of telecommunications
and monitoring equipment and services. Establishing relationships with existing telecom suppliers and vendors facilitates
access to a much broader market without the additional expense of a large and specialized sales force.

SEGMENT 3 - WIRELINE

Although we have sold our Derived Channel technology to British Telecom, we retain the right to market this service in North,
Central, and South America, South Korea, and Australia, We provide this service through our DCX Systems and DCX Australia
subsidiaries.

Our licensed technology creates a Derived Channel on an existing telephone line by using an inaudible frequency below the voice
communications spectrum for data transmission. Derived Channel technology uses this inaudible or low-tone frequency to transmit
monitoring information between a microprocessor at the user’s protected premises and a microprocessor located at the telephone
company’s central office. This creates a two-way communication system that continuously monitors the integrity of a user’s
telephone line and security system. Derived Channel operates over a regular voice telephone line with no interference, whether or
not the telephone is in use. In addition, the low-tone signal can be encrypted for additional security.




We believe that Derived Channel differs from most other alarm transport technologies in three significant ways: 1) Derived Channel
operates over existing telephone lines, eliminating the need for a dedicated line service to the telephone customer; 2) Derived Channel
communicates by means of an encrypted, continuous, and inaudible signal and is transmitted even while the telephone is otherwise.in
use; and 3) telephone line integrity and security system operation are automaticaily monitored at frequent intervals through test
signals generated by network equipment located at the ‘telecommunication .company’s central office. The continuous signaling
originating at the protected premises provides prompt reporting of line disruptions, telephone system outages, or alarm conditions.

GENERAL
Suppliers

We rely on third-party subcontractors, both in the United States and overseas, to manufacture most of the equipment used to provide
our wireless data product solutions, Derived Channel, and networking equipment and products. In addition, some of our products are
obtained from sole-source suppliers. The loss of a subcontractor or supplier could cause a disruption in our business due to the short
lead times demanded by certain customers.

Competition

We have one direct competitor for our Cellemetry network technology—Aeris.net, formerly Aeris Communication, Inc., which uses
the service name Micro Burst. Several competitors are emerging that provide M2M network services on GSM and CDMA
technology. There is also some renewed interest by the wireless carriers in this market. Numerous indirect competitors are actively
pursuing the short message wireless data transport market, principally two-way paging, dedicated packet radio, private radio, low
earth orbit satellites, and PCS. Principal competitive factors when selecting a network provider are network reliability and overall
coverage. We believe that our ubiquitous North American coverage, pricing, end-to-end solution offerings, and system performance
will enable us to effectively maintain and increase our current market share. However, many of our competitors have greater financial
and other resources than we do, which may provide them a competitive advantage in marketing and selling, as well as technological
advantages obtained through greater outlays of resources for research and development.

Our Uplink security products and services have two primary competitors in its existing channels of distribution—Ademco’s Alarmnet
C and Telular’s Teleguard Databurst, both of which use the Aeris.net wireless communications sofution. The principal competitive
factors when making a product selection in the business and consumer security industry are price, reliability, and industry certification
status. GE Interlogix and DSC Skyroute also offer competitive hardware product solutions with their network service provided by
Cellemetry’s wireless communication solution, although the products are marketed through différent channels. ~ We believe that
Uplink’s ptoducts and mmme communications charges are competitively priced. :

We have several competitors offering vehicle location and recovery services, but our principal direct competitor in the new car dealer
after-market vehicle location and recovery business is LoJack Corporation, the industry market leader. OnStar Corp., a subsidiary of
General Motors Corp., which offers a full suite of concierge services, markets and sells their services primarily through auto
manufacturers. The principal competitive factors are coverage, user interactions, timely notification, and the ability to locate a
vehicle at any time on demand. There are also numerous other companies that cunem]y offer or are developing other wireless
products and services in this area. ‘

The market for our digital multimedia high-bandwidth broadband transmission equipment and software has been characterized by
rapid technological change. The principal competitive factors in this market include product performance, ease of use, reliability,
price, breadth of product line, sales and distribution capability, technical support and service, customer relations, and general industry
and economic conditions. The ability to provide complete systems solutions, including system integration, network management
capabilities, and the expertise to migrate existing systems to more complete broadband networks, has also become a critically
important vendor selection criterion in recent years. In addition, users require increasingly sophisticated applications to make the best
use of these networks. ‘

Competitors for our digital multimedia products and services include a number of companies that have developed videoconferencing
technology, including Polycom, Tandberg, and VCON. Other competitors include manufacturers of fiber transmission equipment,
who offer comparable products but do not provide a complete system solution, including software. Many of our competitors have
greater financial and other resources than we do.

Because of its proprietary nature, we believe that we are the only licensed provider of Derived Channel products in Australia. Our
principal competition in the commercial security market consists of alternative methods of monitoring line integrity, such as dedicated
telephone line service. Although security systems using a dedicated telephone line are considered reliable, they are a more expensive
alternative to our Derived Channel technology. We believe that our Derived Channel represents, from a price performance
perspective, the most secure and most reliable form of primary alarm data transport. However, there are other competing wireline and
wireless technologies.

We believe that our networking business is unique among vendors of support systems for SS7 in that we have been a long-term
provider of both diagnostic equipment and testing systems. We believe that our presence in telephone central offices on a day-to-day
basis gives our networking business a unique perspective on the needs of the central office project manager.
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Research and Development

Technology is subject to rapid change, so the introduction of new products, technologies, and applications in our markets could
adversely affect our business. Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to enhance existing products and introduce new
products and applications on a timely basis. We plan to continue to devote a portion of our resources to research and development.

We continue to invest in improvements to various Numerex technologies, including Cellemetry and its service capabilities, on an
ongoing basis. Qur primary focus in this respect is the development of expanded capabilities of our service bureau, further
communications costs reductions, and additional enhancement to application-specific capabilities.

The Cellemetry Network currently supports both TDMA and CDMA switch technologies. It is our opinion that the CDMA protocol
will continue to expand domestically because it is the preferred technology of two of the largest cellular providers in the U.S. We are
finalizing efforts on the integration of a Cellemetry digital CDMA radio into our products. These Cellemetry digital radios will
operate on both the CDMA and AMPs networks to ensure continued ubiquitous, reliable coverage along with legacy support. In
conjunction with our CDMA development initiative, we are focused on providing a multi-protocol SMS offering that provides greater
bandwidth. Other major advantages of this supplemental offering are that, unlike other data transport methods, SMS operates across
the new switch technologies (CDMA and GSM) as well as legacy technologies (TDMA).

Digital Cellemetry will also offer a wireless solution by combining existing analog and digital technologies into multi-mode/multi-
band radios, allowing for maximum coverage and obsolescence protection. This strategy will also provide our customers a high level
of flexibility for deployment not restricted by location or application. Numerex offers this choice in a logical, flexible, and cost-
effective migration plan that is designated to maintain our current functionality, secure our and our customers’ investment in existing
solutions, embrace new and evolving technology, and provide a new array of wireless solutions.

We have focused on providing customers with industry benchmark solutions that go beyond control channel transport of machine
messages. With digital network migration well under way, it is important to provide the market and customers with a clear migration
path from legacy analog networks and services to the new digital networks and IP platforms.

Prudent integration of new digital and web technology into our wireless businesses is an active and on-going process. We are
committed to taking full advantage of such new technology whenever and wherever it makes sense for our customers.

Product Warranty and Service

Our wircless communications business provides a one-year parts and labor warranty on all products. Our Wireline data
communications (Derived Channel) business provides customers with limited one-year warranties on scanners and message switch
software, while Subscriber Terminal Units (STUs) are typically sold with a one-year labor and materials warranty. Our digital
multimedia business provides either a one-year warranty on parts and labor, depending on the scale and type of product provided. Our
networking business provides a one- or two-year warranty on all telecommunications networking products. In addition, a help desk
and training support is offered to users of telecommunications networking products. To date, the cost of our warranty programs have
not been material. :

Intellectual Property

We hold patents covering our technology related to Cellemetry in the United States and various other countries. These patents expire
between 2011 and 2022. Through Cellemetry, we license certain technologies related to Cellemetry under licenses with BellSouth
Corporation. We also own other intellectual property relating to our products. We hold patents through Cellemetry LLC, which
primarily cover the delivery of the Cellemetry wireless data communications service. These patents expire between 2010 and 2022.
It is our practice to apply for patents as we develop new products or processes suitable for patent protection. No assurance can be
given about the scope of the patent protection.

We betieve that the rapid technological developments in the telecommunications industry may limit the protection afforded by
patents. Accordingly, we believe that our success will also depend on our manufacturing, engineering, and marketing know-how and

the quality and economic value of our products and solutions.

Cellemetry is a registered trademark of Numerex Corp. We believe that no individual trademark or trade name is material to our
competitive position in the industry.

Regulation
Federal, state, and local télecommunications laws and regulations have not posed any significant impediments to either the delivery of

wireless data signals using the Cellemetry network or the provision of alarm services by telephone companies using Derived Channel
technology. We may be subject to certain telecommunications taxes and fees, including the federal universal service charge.
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By February 2008, the FCC plans to eliminate its requirement that cellular carriers offer analog service pursuant to the Advanced
Mobile Phone Service (AMPS) standard. At that time, cellular carriers may stop offering analog AMPS cellular service and use the
spectrum for other purposes. Cellemetry, which currently uses the control channel of AMPS cellular service, would have to migrate
its service to the control channels of digital CDMA wireless service or to the Short Message Services of digital CDMA or GSM
wireless service, and customers that use services based on Cellemetry would have to replace incompatible radios where AMPS
service is no longer available. Our wireless products and services that make use of the Cellemetry network would be similarly
affected. While we expect that AMPS standard to be available for a period of time after 2008, we are continuing to work on digital
alternatives, and we introduced our first beta digital products in 2005. This will allow us to provide Cellemetry-based services into
the foreseeable future. Also, by moving to the digital standard, we will be able to add greater functionality compared to the current
products on the AMPS standard.

In addition, some of our products, including derived-channel STUs, Uplink radios, and certain digital multimedia products, require
FCC certification for compliance with standards designed to prevent damage to the telephone network and to restrict radio frequency
interference. Any of our products currently used in the United States and subject to these requirements have received all required
certifications, However, anticipated design changes will require additional compliance testing and certification.

We must obtain certification from Underwriters Laboratories for our products sold in the United States in order to serve monitoring
applications with higher levels of insurance risk, such as bank security alarm systems and fire alarm monitoring systems. Certain of
our digital multimedia products also require cemﬁcanon from Underwriters Laboratories. We intend to obtain any reqmred
Underwriters Laboratories certifications.

Regulations similar to the above may exist in other countries. In the event that we did not comply with any such regulations, or if our
current or future products do not meet various regulatory standards or recewe and maintain all required certlﬁcanons our busmess
could be adversely affected

Employees

As of March 15, 2006, we had 98 émployees in the U.S., consisting of 4 in manufacturing, 41 in sales, marketing and customer
service, 32 in engineering and operations and 21 in management and administration. We have experienced no work stoppages and
none of our employees are represented by collective bargaining arrangements. We believe our relationship with our employees is
good.

Available Information

We make available free of charge through our website at www.nmrx.com our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments thereto filed or furnished pursuant to 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities and Exchange act of 1934, as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are filed with or furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission. Our filings are also available through the Securities and Exchange Commission via
their website, http//www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC's Public
Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public
Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The information contained on our website is not incorporated by
reference in this annual report on form 10-K and should not be considered a part of this report.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Our executive officers, and all persons chosen to become executive officers, and their ages and positions as of March 15,
2006, are as follows:

Name Apge Position

Stratton J. Nicolaides* 52 Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer
Michael A. Marett 51 Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer

Alan B. Catherall 52 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

*Member of the Board of Directors

Mr. Nicolaides has served as Chief Executive Officer of the Company since April 2000, having served as Chief Operating
Officer from April 1999 until March 2000 and as Chairman of the Board since December 1999. From-July 1994 until April 1999, Mr.
Nicolaides managed a closely held investment partnershlp

Mr. Marett has been an Executwe Vice President of the Company since February 2001. In February 2005 he was named
Chief Operating Officer. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Marett was Vice President, Sales and Marketing, of TManage, Inc., which provided
planning, installation, and support services to companies with large remote workforces. From 1997 to 1999 Mr. Marett was Vice
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President, Business Development, of Mitel Business Communications Systems, a division of Mitel Corporation. Prior to this position
Mr. Marett held a number of executive positions at Bell Atlantic.

Mr. Catherall has been the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company since June 2003. From
1998 to 2002, Mr. Catherall served as Chief Financial Officer of AirGate PCS, a NASDAQ-listed wireless company. From 1996 to
1998, Mr. Catherall was a partner in Tatum CFO LLP, a financial services consulting company. Prior to this, he held a number of
executive and management positions at MCI Communications.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the following information
about these risks before buying shares of our common stock. The following risks and uncertainties are not the only ones facing
us. Additional risks and uncertainties of which we are unaware or we currently believe are not material could also adversely
affect us. In any case, the value of our common stock could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment. You
should also refer to the other information ‘contained in this Form 10-K or incorporated herein by reference, including our

consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements. See also, “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements.” :

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition

Although we earned a profit in 2005, we have-a history of losses and are uncertain as to our future profitability.

Although we earned a profit for the year ended December 31, 2005, we have otherwise had a net loss each year since 1998. We may
not sustain operating income, net earnings or positive cash flow from operations in the future..

In addition, we expect to continue to incur significant operating costs and, as a result, will need to generate significant additional

revenues 1o achieve profitability, which proﬁtabﬂny may not continue to oceur. If our revenues do not grow as needed to offset these
costs, our business may not succeed.

" We are a holding company and therefore our abilityto make payments on our debt depends on cash flow from our subsidiaries.
We are a holding company. Our only material assets are our ownership interests in our subsidiaries. Consequently, we depend on

distributions or other intercompany transfers from our subsidiaries to make payments on our debt. Distributions and intercompany
transfers to us from our subsidiaries will depend on: .

. the earnings of our subsidiaries;

. covenants contained in agreements to which we or our subsidiaries are or may become subject;
. business and tax considerations; and

. applicable law, including laws regarding the payment of dividends and d1stnbunons

We cannot assure you that the operating results of our subsidiaries or the distributions they make to us at any given time will be
sufficient to make distributions or other payments to us or that any distribution and/or payments will be adequate to pay our debt,
including interest payments, when due.

Risks Related to Our Business
The businesses in which we operate are highly competitive, and we may not be able to compete effectively.

We face competition from many companies with significantly greater financial resources, well-established brand names and larger
customer bases. Numerous companies also may try to enter our market and expose us to greater price competition for our services.

We expect competition to intensify in the fumre If our competitors successfully focus on the markets we serve, our business could be
adversely affected.

We operate in new and rapidly evolvmg markets where rapid technologlcal change can quickly make products, including those that
we offer, obsolete.

We operate in industries that are subject to evolving industry standards, rapid technological changes and rapid changes in customer
demands. These changes, individually or collectively, can-adversely affect our business. If the demand for our products declines due
to changes in technology, and we are unable to develop new products and services that successfully address market demand, our
busiress will be adversely affected. In the event we keep pace with technological change, any delays in our development,
introduction and marketing of new wireless or digital multimedia products and services, or those of our suppliers, could have an
adverse effect on our business. - :

Failure of our products and services to gain market acceptance would adversely affect our financial condition.
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QOver the past three years we have introduced AnyNet, a- wireless security system, MobileGuardian; a vehicle tracking solution,
VendView, a vending management service, and 1PContact, a desktop videoconferencing software package. If these products and
services, or any of our other existing products and services, do not perform as expected, or if our sales are less than expected, our
business may be adversely affected.

Our current business plan contemplates significant expansion, which we may be unable 1o manage.

To the extent that we are successful in implementing our business strategy, we may experience periods of rapid expansion in the
future. In order to manage growth, whether organic or through acquisitions, effectively, we will need to maintain and improve our
operating systems and expand, train and manage our employees. Expansion through acquisitions will require integration of new
employees, processes and procedures and computer systems, which can be both difficult and taxing from a human resources
perspective. In addition, we must carefully manage product inventory levels to meet demand. Inaccuracies in expected demand could
result in insufficient or excessive inventories and unexpected additional expenses. We must also expand the capacity of our sales,
distribution and installation networks in order to achieve continued growth in our existing and future markets. The failure to manage
growth effectively in any of these areas could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. ‘ :

We may require additional capital ro fund further development, and our competitive position could decline if we are unable to obtain
additional capital.

We may need to raise additional funds to support operations, respond to competitive pressures and changes in technology, or respond
to unanticipated requirements. To do so, we may need to raise additional funds through public or private equity or debt financings.
We cannot assure you that additional funding will be available to us at the time it is needed, or on terms acceptable to us. This could
have a material adverse effect on our ability to operate our business.

If we experience product defects or failures, our costs could increase and delay product shipments.

Our products and services are complex. While we test our products, they may still have errors, defects or bugs that we find only after

commercial production has begun. In the past, we have experienced errors, defects and bugs in connection with new products. Our

customers may not purchase our products if the products have reliability, quality or compatibility problems. Furthermore, product

errors, defects or bugs could result in additional development costs, diversion of resources from our other development efforts, claims ‘
by our customers or others against us, or the loss of credibility with our current and prospective customers. Historically, the time

required for us to correct defects has caused delays in product shipments and resulted in lower than expected revenues. Significant

capital and resources may be required to address and fix problems in new products.

If our products do not function properly, we may have lower than expected revenues, and net income would likely be adversely
impacted.

We depend on contract mamifacturers to manufacture substantially all of our products, and any delay or interruption in
manufacturing would result in delayed or reduced shipments to our customers.

We outsource the manufacturing of our products to independent companies and do not have internal manufacturing capabilities to
meet the demands of our customers. Any delay, interruption or termination of the manufacture of our products could harm our ability
to provide our products to our customers and, consequently, could have a material adverse effect on our business and operations.

A large portion of our revenues is derived from sales to distributors, and changes in the productivity of our distribution channels or
any disruption of our distribution channel could adversely affect the sale of our products and services.

We primarily sell our products-through distributors. Our sales could be affected by disruptions in the relationships between our
distributors or between our distributors and end users of our products or services. Also, distributors may choose not to emphasize our
products and services to their customers. Any of these actions or results could lead to decreased sales. The structure of our company
may limit the voting power of our stockholders, and. certain Factors May Inhibit Changes in Control of our company.

The concentration of ownership of our common stock may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control;
merger, consolidation or tender offer that could involve a premium over the price of our common stock. Currently, our executive
officers, directors and greater-than-five percent stockholders and their affiliates, in the aggregate, beneficially own approximately
47% of our outstanding common stock. These stockholders, if they vote together, are able to exercise significant influence over all
matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions and
matters. The interests of these stockholders may be different than those or our unaffiliated stockholders and our unaffiliated
stockholders may be dissatisfied with the outcome of votes that may be controlled by our affiliated stockholders.

Our articles of incorporation generally limit holdings by persons of our common stock to no more than 10% without prior approval by
our Board. Except as otherwise permitted by the Board, no stockholder has the right to cast more than 10% of the total votes
regardless of the number of shares of common stock owned. In addition, if a person acquires holdings in excess of this ownership
limit, our Board may terminate all voting rights of the person during the time that the ownership limit is violated, bring a lawsuit
against the person seeking divestiture of amounts in excess of the limit, or take other actions as the Board deems appropriate. Qur
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articles of incorporation also have a procedure that gives us the right to purchase shares of common stock held in excess of the
ownership limit.

In addition, our articles of incorporation permit our Board to authorize the issuance of preferred stock without stockholder approval.
Any future series of preferred stock may have voting provisions that could delay or prevent a change in control or other transaction
that might involve a premium price or otherwise be in the best interests of our common stockholders.

If'we do not adapt to changing regulations that affecr us our business would suffer.

We operate in a technological environment characterized by rapid change in products, capabilities, and both consumer and societal
expectations. As a result, the regulatory environment in which we operate is continually changing as it adjusts to address new issues
in a rapidly changing industry. Future regulations could make our products illegal or obsolete, or may require us to make substantial
changes to our products in order to continue to market them.

For example, by 2008, cellular carriers will no longer be required by the FCC to provide analog service pursuant to the Advanced

Mobile Phone Service (AMPS) standard. Cellular carriers may stop offering analog AMPS cellular service. Cellemetry, which

currently operates using AMPS cellular service, would have to begin operating on other wireless service channels, and customers that

use services that involve Cellemetry would have to replace incompatible equipment. Other products and services that we make and

that depend on Cellemetry, such as Mobile Guardian, would be similarly affected. While we are currently developing a digital

standard, we might not be successful in such development. Furthermore, even if such development is successful there can be no
" assurance that we will be successful in transmomng out existing customer base to our digital networks.

Many of the ultimate consumers of our PowerPlay products and serviées are elementary and secondary schools that pay for their
purchases with funding that they receive through the FCC’s e-rate program. Changes in this program could affect demand for our
PowerPlay products and semces '

If we fail to adapt to regulatory changes, our product offerings would decrease, which would have a negative impact on our business,
results of operations, and financial condition.

We may not be able to achieve our operational growth goals if we do not operate our Cellemetry network efficiently and generate
additional traffic.

Our long-term success depends on our ability to operate, manage and maintain a reliable and cost effective network, as well as our
ability to keep pace with changes in technology. Furthermore; our network operations are dependent on third parties. If we
experience technical or logistical impediments to our ability to transfer traffic onto our network, fail to generate additional traffic on

our network, or if we experience difficulties th our third party prov1ders we may not achieve our revenue goals or otherwise be
successful in growmg our business.

We may lose customers if we experzence system failures that significantly disrupt the availability and quality of the service our
network provides.

The operation of our Cellemetry network- depends on our ability to avoid or limit any interruptions in service to .our customers.
Interruptions in service or performance problems, for whatever reason, could undermine confidence in our services and cause us to
lose customers or make it more difficult to aftract new customers. In addition, because most of our customers are businesses, any
significant interruption in service could result in lost profits or other losses to our customers. Although we attempt to disclaim or
limit liability in our agreements with these customers, a court may not enforce a disclaimer of or limitation on liability, which could
expose us to losses.

The failure of any equipment on our network, or those of our customers, could result in the interruption of that customer’s service
until necessary repairs are made or replacement equipment is installed. Network failures, delays and errors may result from natural
disasters, power losses, security breaches, viruses or terrorist acts. These failures or faults cause delays, service interruptions, expose
us to customer liability or require expensive modifications that could have a material adverse effect on our busmess and operating
results.

We may have difficulty identifying the source of a problem in our Cellemetry network.

1f and when a problem occurs on our Cellemetry network, it may be difficult 1o identify the source of the problem due to the overlay
of our network with the cellular telephone network and our network’s reliance on the cellular network. The occurrence of hardware
or software errors, regardless of whether such errors are caused by our products or our Cellemetry network, may result in the delay or
loss of market acceptance of our products and services, and any necessary revisions may result in significant and additional expenses.
The occurrence of some of these types of problems may seriously harm our business, financial condition or operations.

We operate internationally, which subjects us to international regulation and business uncertainties that create additional risk for us.

We have a subsidiary operating in Australia and are doing business in the Caribbean, South America, Canada and Japan.
Accordingly, we are subject to international regulation and business uncertainties. International sales and operations may be subject
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to additional risks than those risks in the United States, such as the following:

e imposition of government controls,

»  political instability,

s export license requirements,

e restrictions on the export of critical technology,

s currency exchange rate fluctuations,

s  generally longer receivables collection periods and difficulty in collecting,
accounts receivable,

¢ (rade restrictions and changes in tariffs,
difficulties in staffing and managing international operations, and

¢ potential insolvency of international dealers.

In addition, the laws of certain countries do not protect our products as much as the laws of the United States do. which may lead to
the potential-loss of our proprietary technology through theft, piracy or a failure to protect our rights. These factors may have a
materia} adverse effect on our future international sales and, consequently, on our business and results of operations. '

The loss of intellectual property protection, specifically, our patents, both U.S. and international, could have a material adverse effect
on our operations.

Our future success and competitive position depend upon our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection, especialty
with regard to patents on the technology used in our core business. Loss of such protection could compromise any advantage obtained
and, therefore, impact our sales, market share and results. Furthermore, our future or pending patent applications may not be issued
with the scope of the claims sought by us, if at all. In addition, others may develop technologies that are similar or superior to our
technology, duplicate our technology or design around the patents owned or licensed by us. Effective patent, trademark, copyright
and trade secret protection may be unavailable or limited in foreign countries where we may need protection. We cannot be sure that
steps taken by us to protect our technology will prevent misappropriation of the technology.

Our services are highly dependent upon our technology and the scope and limitations of our proprietary rights therein. In order to
protect our technology, we rely on a combination of patents, copyrights and trade secret laws, as well as certain customer licensing
agreements, employee and third-party confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements, and other similar arrangements. 1f our assertion
of proprietary rights is held to be invalid, or if another party’s use of our technology were to occur to any substantial degree, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Our competitors may obtain patents that could restrict our ability to offer auf_ products and services, or subject us to additional costs,
which could impede out ability to offer our products and services and otherwise adversely affect us.

Several of our competitors have obtained and can be expected to obtain patents that cover products or services directly or indirectly
related to those offered by us. There can be no assurance that we are aware of all patents containing claims that may pose a risk of
infringement by its products or services. In addition, patent applications in the United States are confidential until a patent is issued
and, accordingly, we cannot evaluate the extent to which our products or services may infringe on future patent rights held by others.

Furthermore, even with technology that we develop independently, a third party may claim that we are using inventions claimed by
their patents and may go to court to stop us from engaging in our normal operations and activities, such as research and development
and the sale of any of our products or services. These lawsuits are expensive and would consume time and other resources. The court
could decide that we are infringing the third party’s patents and would order us to stop the activities claimed by the patent and/or
order us to pay the other party’s damages for having infringed their patents. There is no guarantee that the prevailing patent owner
would offer us a license so that we could continue to engage in activities claimed by the patent, or that such a license, if made
available to us, could be acquired on commercially acceptable terms.

Some licenses we obtain may be nonexclusive and, therefore, our competitors may have access to the same technology licensed to us.
If we fail to obtain a required license or are unable to design around a patent, we may be unable to sell some of our products, and
there can be no assurance that we would be able to design and incorporate alternative technologies, without a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Qur products and information are subject to secrecy and confidentiality obligations, violations of which may not be able to be
remedied.

Although we have taken, and will continue to take, steps to protect the confidential nature of our proprietary and trade secret
information, we cannot control whether secrecy obligations will be honored or whether disputes will arise related to this information.
There is a risk that the steps we have taken will not prevent misappropriation of our technology or that others might independently
develop substantially equivalent products and processes or otherwise gain access to our technology. In addition, we cannot rule out
that we will not be subjected to claims from others that we are infringing on their patents or are misappropriating their trade secrets or
confidential proprietary information. o

We seek to protect our trade secrets and proprietary know-how, in part, through confidentiality agreements with our employees and
licensees. We cannot guarantee that the other parties will not violate these agreements, that we will have adequate remedies for any
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breach, or that our trade secrets will not otherwise become known or be independently developed by competitors. We cannot be
certain that we will, in connection with every relationship, be able to maintain the confidentiality of our technology, which if released
could materially affect our business. To the extent' that our licensees develop inventions or processes independently that may be
applicable to our products, disputes may arise as to the ownership of the proprietary rights to this information. These inventions or
processes will not necessarily become our property, but may remain the property of these persons or their full-time employers. We

could be required to make payments to the owners ofthese mventlons or processes, either in the form of cash, equity or a combination
thereof.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.

Item 2. Properties.

All of our facilities are leased. Set forth below is certain information with respect to our leased facilities:

Location Principal Business Square Footage Lease Term
Networking and Wireline Data

Willow Grove, Pennsylvania Communications : 10,000 2008

State College, Pensylvania Digital Multimedia 10,788 Month to Month
Wireless Data Communications and

Atlanta, Georgia Principal Executive Office - 20,494 2011

Norcross, Georgia Wireless Data Communications 1,658 ’ 2005

We cornduct engineering; sales and marketing, and administrative activities at many of these locations. We believe that our
existing facilities are adequate for our current needs. As we grow and expand into new markets and develop additional
products, we may require additional space, which we believe will be available at reasonable rates.

We engage in limited manufacturing, equipment and product assembly and testing for certain products. We also use contract
manufacturers for production, sub-assembly and final assembly of certain products. We believe there are other manufacturers
that could perform this work on comparable terms.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

None other than in the ordinary course of business.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Iter 5. Market for the Registrant's Common Stock and Related Shareholder Matters.

The Company’s Common Stock trades publicly on the NASDAQ National Market System under the symbol NMRX. We
currently do not pay any cash dividends. In deciding whether or not to declare or pay dividends in the future, the Board of Directors
will consider all relevant factors, including our earnings, financial condition and working capital, capital expenditure requirements,
any restrictions contained in loan agreements and market factors and conditions.

The following table sets forth, for the fiscal quarters indicated, the high and low sales prices per share for the Common

Stock on the NASDAQ National Market for the applicable periods.
Fiscal 2005

First Quarter (January [, 2005 to March 31, 2005)
Second Quarter (Apnl 1, 2005 to June 30, 2005)

Third Quarter (July 1, 2005 to September 30, 2005)
Fourth Quarter (October 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005)

Fiscal 2004_

First Quarter (January 1, 2004 to March 31, 2004)
Second Quarter (April 1, 2004 to June 30, 2004) -

Third Quarter (July 1, 2004 to September 30, 2004)
Fourth Quarter (October 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

High Low
$ 5.30 $ 4.36
5.15 4.00
6.19 4.56
5.50 4.22
-High Low
$ 5.10 $ 3.50
571 ' 3.68
4.99 3.50
5.25 3.50

As of March 13; 2006, there were 67 holders of record of our Common Stock, approximately 9 beneficial shareholders

and 12,570,519 shares of Common Stock outstanding.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes
contained in “Iltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” and the information contained in “ltem 7. Management’s

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Sfuture results.

Historical results are not necessarily indicative of -

The following financial information was derived using the consolidated financial statements of Numerex Corp.. The table
lists historical financial data of the Company for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

December December December December December 1
31,2005 31, 2004 31,2003 31,2002 31,2001
(in thousands)
Statement of Operations Data
Revenues § 29946 $ 22993 $ 20,157 $ 24,50t $ 24258
Gross profit 12,717 10,039 9,029 10,221 9,254
Operating income (loss) 961 (1,631) (2,726) (7,468) (7,330)
Net income (loss) 593 (2,079) (1,404) (7,450) (3,142)
Earnings (loss) per common share (diluted) 0.05 0.19) 0.13) (0.71) (0.32)
Balance Sheet Data
Total Assets $ 36,348 $ 32,612 $ 33,970 $ 37,111 $ 42974
Capital lease obligations (short and long term) 118 35 344 1,573 472
Shareholders' equity 27,729 23,652 25,366 27,615 34,108
Cash Flow Data
Net cash provided by (used in) operations $ 3277 $ 1,520 $ 706 $ (2890)| $ (3237




Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Overview

Numerex- Corp is a wireless machine-to-machine communications, technology and solutions business. The
Company combines its network services, products and applications development capabilities to create innovative
packaged and custom designed machine-to-machine offerings for customers across multiple market segments.

Fiscal year 2005 represented a marked improvement over prior periods. Full year revenues of almost $30
million increased $7 million or 30% from 2004. Nearly all of this increase came from our wireless division where
2005 revenues grew 53% compared to 2004, ‘

Gross margins for 2005 were 42.5% compared with 43.7% in 2004. This was due to strong acceleration in
wireless data product sales which typically earn a lower margin than that generated by service revenue. These product
sales, however, should result in enhanced recurring service revenue in subsequent periods.

For fiscal year 2005 overheads, which include selling, general and administrative costs as well as research
and development expenses and bad debt costs, collectively were $10.1 million or less than 1% higher than for 2004.
In fact, selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses have shown no significant increase in absolute terms in
the last three years while total revenues have increased more than 50%. SG&A expenses, which represented over
44%, of revenues in 2004, were less than 30% in 2005.

As a result of strengthening revenues, a minimal decrease in gross margins and continued control over costs,
we recorded a $2.7 million improvement in net income in 2005, compared to a loss of $2.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 to a profit of almost $600 thousand for the comparative period in 2005.

Numerex’s balance sheet also shows similar improvement in 2005. For example, cash balances at December
31, 2005 were almost $4.4 million compared to $1.7 million at December 31, 2004. In addition, because of principal
repayments and conversions to equity, our total debt has been reduced from $3 7 million at December 31, 2004 to $1.2
million at December 31, 2005

Subsequent to December 31, 2005 the $1.2 million of debt at year-end has been converted to equity and
therefore eliminated. This event favorably impacts our cash flow due to reduced principal repayments and interest
expense, which we believe further solidifies our financial strength.

The following is a discussion of our consolidated financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 and 2003. This discussion should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements, the related notes thereto, and other financial information included elsewhere in this
report.

Critical Accounting Policies

Note A of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements includes a summary of the significant accounting
policies and methods used in the preparation of Numerex’s Consolidated Financial Statements. The following is a brief
discussion of the more significant accounting policies and methods used. :

General

The preparation. of financial statements in conformity with accounting princi’ples generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant estimates and assumptions relate to
revenue recognition, accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts, inventories and the adequacy of reserves for
excess and obsolete inventories, accounting for income taxes and valuation of goodwill and other intangible assets. Actual
amounts could differ significantly from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition
We primarily sell products, recurring services (most billed on a monthly basis) and on-demand services.
Product revenues are recogmzed at the time title passes to the customer, which in most cases is at the time- of

shipment.
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We bill most of our recurring service revenues on a monthly basis, which are generated by providing
customers access to our wireless machine-to-machine communications network (the “Network™). We sell these
services to retailers and wholesalers of the service. For services sold to retailers, monthly service fees are generally a
fixed monthly amount billed one month in advance. We defer the advance billing for the service and recognize the
revenue when the services are provided. For services sold to wholesalers, the customers are billed a fixed base fee in
advance and usage fees in arrears at the end of each month. Again, we defer the advance billing of the base fee and
recognize the revenues when the services are performed.

. We also provide services on a demand basis. These types of services are generally completed in a short
period of time (usually less than one month) and are billed and the revenue recognized when the services are
completed.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Our estimate for our allowance for doubtful accounts related to trade receivables is estimated based on two
methods. The amounts calculated from each of these methods are combined to determine the total amount reserved.
First, we evaluate specific accounts where information exists that the customer may have an inability to meet its
financial obligations. In these cases, we use our judgment, based on the best available facts and circumstances, and
record a specific reserve for that customer to reduce the receivable to the amount that is expected to be collected.
These specific reserves are reevaluated and adjusted as additional information is received that impacts the amount
reserved. Second, we establish a general reserve for all customers based on a range of percentages applied to aging
categories. These percentages are based on historical collection and write-off experience. If circumstances change,
(i.e. higher than expected defaults or an unexpected material adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet its
financial obligation-to us), our estimates of the recoverability of amounts due to us could be changed by a material
amount.

Inventories and Reserves for Excess, Slow-Moving and Obsolete Inventory

We value our inventory at the lower of cost or market. We continually evaluate the composition of our
inventory and identify, with estimates, potential future excess, obsolete and slow-moving inventories. We specifically
identify obsolete products for reserve purposes and analyze historical usage, forecasted production based on demand
forecasts, current economic trends, and historical write-offs when evaluating the adequacy of the reserve for excess
and slow-moving inventory. If we are not able to achieve our expectations of the net realizable value of the inventory
at its current carrying value, we would adjust our reserves accordingly.

Valuation of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, (“SFAS No. 144"} and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS No. 1427), we do not amortize goodwill and other intangible
assets with indefinite lives. Our long-lived and intangible assets and goodwill are subject to annual impairment tests,
which require us to estimate the fair value of our business compared to the carrying value. The impairment reviews
require an analysis of future projections and assumptions about our operating performance Should such review
indicate the assets are impaired, we would record an expense for the impaired assets.

Annual tests or other future events could cause us to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that our
goodwill is impaired. For example, if we had reason to believe that our recorded goodwill and intangible assets had
become impaired due to decreases in the fair market value of the underlying business, we would have to take a charge
to income for that portion of goodwill or intangible assets that we believed was impaired. Any resulting impairment
loss could have a material adverse impact on our financial position and results of operations. Net goodwill and
intangible assets amounted to $22.3 miillion as of December 31, 2005. :

Deferred Tax Valuation Allowance

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not
to be realized. In determining the amount of the valuation allowance, we consider estimated future taxable income as
well as feasible tax planning strategies in each taxing jurisdiction in which we operate. Historically, we have recorded.
a deferred tax valuation allowance in an amount equal to our net deferred tax assets. If we determine that we will
ultimately be able to utilize all or a portion of the deferred tax assets for which a valuation allowance has been
provided, the related portion of the valuation allowance will be released to income as a credit to income tax expense.
Beginning 1n fiscal year 2006, management will begin to evaluate the deferred tax valuation allowance on a quarterly
basis.
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Result of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain revenue and expense items and the percentage
increases and decreases for those items in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(in thousands, except per share amounts) " For the years ended December = 2005 vs. 2004 vs.
31, ‘ 2004 " 2003
2005 2004 2003 % Change % Change
Net sales: .

Wireless Data Communications .
Product $ 11,919 § 5913 § 4,839 101.6% 22.2%

Service _ 10,409 8,687 7,848 15.8% 10.7%
Sub-total 22,328 14,600 12,687 52.9% 15.1%
Digital Multimedia and Networking '
Product ‘ 2,271 . 3,434 2,647 -33.9% 29.7%
Service - T 4,297 3,968 3,518 83% 12.8%
Sub-total ' 6,568 7,402 6,165 -11.3% 20.1%
Wireline . : .
Product ' _ 383 350 449 9.4% -22.0%
Service o 667 64l 856 4.1% -25.1%
Sub-total . 1,050 991 1,305 6.0% -24.1%
Total net sales i » o
Product v 14,573 - 9,697 - 7,935 50.3% - 22.2%
Service . 15,373 13,296 12,222 15.6% 8.8%
Total net sales K , 29,946 22,993 20,157 30.2% 14.1%
Cost of product sales {excluding depreciation) 11,303 7,626 6,043 48.2% 26.2%
Cost of services (excluding depreéiatioh and ’ '
amortization) ) ' 5,748 4,943 4,443 16.3% 11.3%
Depreciation and amortization 178 385 642 -53.8% -40.0%
Gross Profit: - ‘ o 12,717 10,039 9,029 26.7% 11.2%
Gross Profit % o 3 42.5% a7 44.8% ‘
Selling, generél, and administrative expenses 8,663 8,625 8,371 o 04% 3.0%
Research and development expenses 1,106 906 905 22.1% 0.1%
Bad debt expense | ) 325 415 - 551 3L6%  -13.8%
Depreciation and amortization - 1662 . 1,664 1,928 -0.1% -13.7%
Operating earnings (loss) - %6l (1,631) (2,726) -158.9% -40.2%
Interest expense, net - . Gl . (637 (5% -512% 79.9%
Other income and (expense), net (5) (52) 56 -90.4% -192.9%
Gain on sale of business » o - 250 1,712 -
Provision for income taxes S (52) . .(9) (92). C-100.0% )
Net earnings (loss) .- - 593 (2,079 - (1,404) -128.5% 48.1%
Basic incofne (loss) per common share $ 005 $ (0.19) . $ (0.13)
Diluted income (loss) per common share - $ 0.05 $ (0.19) '$ (0.13)
Basic 11,231 10,798 10,934

Diluted . 11,482 10,798 . 10,934

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Fiscal Years Ended Deceinber 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004

Net sales increased 30.2% to $29.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $23.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004. The increase in net sales in 2005 is attributable to a 50.3% increase in total product sales
and a 15.6% increase in service sales. Substantially all of this increase is attributable to a $7.7 million increase in
product and service sales in Wireless Data Communications in 2005, partially offset by a $1.2 million decrease in
Digital Multimedia and Networking product sales.

Cost of product sales increased 48.2% to $11.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $7.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase was primarily the result of higher product sales volume
in the Wireless Data Communications and Wireline, partially offset by lower Digital Multimedia and Networking
product sales. ‘

Cost of services increased 16.3% to $5.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $4.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase was primarily the result of higher service sales volume in
Wireless Data Communications, Digital Multimedia and Networking and Wireline.

Cost of sales depreciation and amortization expense decreased 53.8% to $178,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from $385,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004. This decrease was primarily the resuit of
assets in our Digital Multimedia and Networking division becoming fully depreciated during 2005.

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 42.5% for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to
43.7% for the year ended December 31, 2004. The gross profit percentage decreased slightly in 2005 because
product sales as a percentage of total sales increased to 37.7% for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to
33.2% for the year ended December 31, 2004. Since product sales entail higher costs of sale, gross profit as a
percentage of sales is generally less on product sales than service sales, and so the increase in product sales in
2005 resulted in a slight decrease in the total gross profit percentage. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage
of sales for the period ended December 31, 2005 versus the comparable period in2004 was partially offset by a
reduction in depreciation expense due to some assets in Digital Multimedia and Networking becoming fully
depreciated during 2005.

Selling, general, and administrative expenses increased 0.4% to $8.7 million for the year ended December
31, 2005 from $8.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. As a percentage of sales, selling, general, and
administrative expenses decreased to 28.9% for the year ended December 31, 2005 from 37.5% for the year ended
December 31, 2004. Selling, general, and administrative expenses decreased as a percentage of revenue for the year
primarily because our revenues increased while these costs essentially remained flat.

Research and development expenses increased 22.1% to $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005
from $906,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004. Research and development expenses increased primarily due
to the reclassification of certain personnel to research and development from selling, general and administrative
positions. We expect research and development costs to continue at current levels.

Bad debt expense decreased 31.6% to $325,000 for the year ended Decéfnber 31, 2005 from $475,000 for
the comparable 2004 period. Bad debt expense continued to decrease during 2005 as a result of our
implementation of more stringent credit policies and collections processes in 2004.

Operating expense depreciation and amortization expense remained constant at $1 7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2004.

Interest expense (net) decreased to $311,000 in 2005 from $637,000 in 2004. This decrease was primarily
the result of reduced interest expense on a note held by the Laurus Master Fund (“Laurus”) initially issued on January
15, 2004 in the amount of $4.5 million. On July 6, 2005 we voluntarily converted $2.3 million of the outstanding debt
associated with the note into 500,000 shares of our common stock. On August 1, 2005 we converted the remaining
outstanding portion of the debt associated with the note into 209,000 shares of our common stock. As a result, we
have reduced our total interest expense. The majority of ongoing interest expense is related to a second $1,500,000
note that we issued to Laurus on January 28, 2005. Please see Note A(11) to our Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information about our transactions with Laurus.

Foreign currency loss decreased to $5,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $52,000 for the year

ended December 31, 2004. This decrease was the result of decreased foreign currency loses on sales to Canadian
customers. '
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As discussed in Note F to. our Consolidated Financial Statements, we are entitled to the benefits of certain net
operating loss carry forwards. However, we believe it is unlikely that we will utilize the deferred tax items, therefore,
we have not recorded a federal tax benefit for'the year ended December 31, 2005. The $52,000 provision for income
taxes for the year ended December 31, 2005 is related to certain state income taxes. The $9,000 income tax expense
for the year ended December 31, 2004 is related to cenain state and fore\'gn income taxes.

- Basic and diluted earning (loss) per common share increased to eammgs of $0.05 per share for year ended
December 31, 2005 as compared to a loss of $0.19 per share for the year ended December 31, 2004,

Weighted average and diluted shares. outstanding increased-to 11,482,000 at December 31, 2005 from
10,798,000 .at December 31, 2004. This increase is primarily due to our issuance of 3.2 million shares to Laurus in
connection with the conversion of our $4.5 million note, as discussed above.

.

Fiscal Years Ended December. 31 2004 and December 31 2003

Net revenues increased 14. 1% to $23.0 mllhon for the year ended December 31 2004 as compared to $20 2
million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase in total net revenues for the year ended December 31,
2004 is attributable to a 22.2% increase in total product sales and an 8.8% increase in service.revenue. Most of the
product sales and service revenue increase for thé year.ended December 31, 2004, compared-to the same period in
2003, was 'in Digital Multimedia and Networking and Wireless Data Communications.in the.amount of $3.2 million.
These increases were partially offset by a décrease in Witeline Security product sales and service revenue of
$314,000.

Cost of product sales 1ncreased 26.2% t0 §7. 6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to
$6.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase in cost of sales was primarily the result of higher
product sales volume in the Wireless Data Communications and. Digital- Multimedia. & Networking, which were
partially offset by lower Wireline product sales. We also experienced an increase in the cost of our Wireless Services
products during the year ended December 31, 2004 versus the same periods in 2003. We have identified alternative
sources of these products that we believe-should defray some of these increases in future periods.

Cost of services increased 11.3% to $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to
$4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase in cost of services for the twelve months ended
December 31,.2004 versus the same period in 2003 was primarily the result.of higher service revenue volume in
Wireless Data Communications and higher service revenue volume in Digital Multimedia and Networking.
Additionally, we received a one-time credit against network service prov1der costs that occurred in quarter ended
Jine 30, 2003 that d1d not occur in 2004, :

Cost of sales depreciation and - amortization expense decreased 40% -to $385,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2004 as compared to $642,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003. This decrease was primarily
due to the sale of the assets relating to Datal Source, which was sold in September 2003,

Gross profit, as a percentage of net revenue, was 43.7% for the year ended December 31, 2004 as
compared to 44.8% for the year ended December 31, 2003. The total gross profit as a percentage of revenue
decreased for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2004 compared to the same period in 2003 because
product sales were 42.1% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004 versus 39.3% for the year ended
December 31, 2003. Since, gross profit as a percentage of revenue is generally less on product sales than for
service revenue, the increase in product sales versus service revenue decreased the total gross profit as a
percentage of revenue. The decreases in gross profit as a percentage of revenue for the twelve months period
ended December 31, 2004 versus the same period in 2003 were partially offset by a reduction of depreciation
expense due to the sale of the assets relating of Datal Source.

Selling, general, administrative and other expenses increased 3.0% to $8.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 as compared to $8.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. As a percentage of revenue,
selling, general, administrative and other expenses decreased to 37.5% for the year ended December 31, 2004 as
compared to 41.5% for the year ended December 31, 2003. Selling, general, administrative and other expenses
decreased as a percentage of revenue for the year primarily due to reductions in personnel in our Mobile Guardian
division.

Research and development expenses remained constant at $906,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004.
We expense research and development costs and expect such costs to continue at current levels.
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Bad debt expense decreased 13.8% to-$475,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to
$551,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003. Bad debt decreased during the period as a result of the
implementation of more stringent credit policies and collections processes as well as an improvement in general
economic conditions.

Operating expense depreciation and amortization expense decreased 13.7% to $1.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 as compared to $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. This was due to some older
assets becoming fully depreciated while we have had a limited requirement for the purchase of new equipment.

Net interest expense increased to $637,000 in 2004 compared to $354,000 for the prior year. This increase
was primarily the result of interest expense on the $4,500,000 convertible note payable to Laurus Master. This
convertible note payable replaced the $3,500,000 note payable to Cingular. The note payable to Laurus Master Fund
has a higher effective interest rate than the Cingular note payabie, however, the Laurus note has a longer term. We
issued the note payable to Cingular on March 28, 2003, thus the twelve month period ended December 31, 2003 had
approximately nine months of interest expense, while the Laurus Master Fund note payable was issued by us on
January 15, 2004, therefore, the twelve month period ended December 31, 2004 had approximately eleven and a half
months of interest expense. .

Gain on the sale of business of $250,000 for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2004 was due
to the receipt of a contingent payment in March 2004 on the sale of DatalSource in September 2003 since a
contingency associated with the sale was favorably met. The gain on the sale of business of $1,712,000 twelve-
month period ended December 31, 2003 was attributable to the sale of DatalSource. :

Foreign currency loss of $52,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 versus a gain of $56,000 was mostly
the result of foreign currency loses on sales to Canadian customers.

We did not utilize the deferred tax items so we have not recorded a federal tax benefit for the year ended
December 31, 2004. The $9,000 for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2004 is related to certain state and
foreign income taxes. The $92,000 in income tax expense for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2003 is
related to our operations in Australia and certain state income taxes. We recorded a net loss of $2.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2004 compared to a net loss of $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Basic and diluted loss per common share increased to $(0.19) for year ended December 31, 2004 as
compared to $(0.13) for the year ended December 31, 2003, which includes the gain on the sale of DatalSource.

The weighted average and diluted shares outstanding decreased to 10,798,000 for the year ended December
31, 2004 as compared to 10,934,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003. The decrease in weighted average basic
shares outstanding for the twelve-month period ended was primarily due to our repurchase on March 28, 2003 of
625,000 shares of our common stock held by Cingular, This was pamally offset by shares issued under the employee
stock purchase plan.
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Segment Information

. For the years ended © 2005 vs. 2004 vs.
Net Sale by Segment: ' : Pecember 31, 2004 - 2003
 (in thousands) 2005 2004 2003 % Change % Change
Net sales: . N
Wireless Data Communications 4
Product $ 11919 $ 5913 § 4,839 101.6%  222%
Service 10,409 8,687 7,848 19.8% 10.7%
Sub-total 22,328 14,600 12,687 52.9% 15.1%
Digital Multimedia and Networking ‘ :
Product , 2,271 3,434 2,647 C-33.9% 29.7%
Service - 4,297 3,968 3,518 - 83% 12.8%
Sub-total 6,568 7,402 6,165 ‘ -11.3% 20.1%
Wireline Security ‘ . ‘
Product 383 350 449 9.4% -22.0%
Service 667 641 856 4.1% -25.1%
Sub-total - 1,050 991 1,305 6.0% - -24.1%
Total net sales v '
Product ‘ 14,573 9,697 7,935 50.3% 22.2%
Service ' ) 15,373 13,296 12,222 15.6% - 8.8%
Total net sales 29,946 22,993 20,157 30.2% 14.1%

Percent of Total Sales

2005 2004 2003
Net sales:
Wireless Data Communications _ .
Product 39.8% 25.7% 24.0%
Service . 348%  37.8% 38.9%
Sub-total 74.6% 63.5% ©62.9%
Digital Multimedia and Networking '
Product 7.6% 14.9% - 13.1%
Service 14.3% 17.3% 17.5%
Sub-total 21.9% 32.2% 30.6%
Wireline Security .
Product 1.3% 1.5% 2:2%
Service ’ 22% 2.8% 4.2%
Sub-total 315% 4.3% 6.5%
Total net sales
Product 48.7% 42.2% 39.4%
Service 51.3% 57.8% 60.6%
Total net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
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Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004

Net revenues from Wireless Data Communications increased 52.9% to $22.3 million for the year ended December
31, 2005 as compared to §14.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase was the result of a 101.6%
increase in product sales and a 19.8% increase in service revenues compared to the same period last year. The increase in
Wireless Data Communications product sales of $6.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 versus the same period
in 2004 was prirharily the result of*increased sales of our vehicle security products and trackmg services, MobileGuardian®
and increased sales of our Uplink Security devices used for wireless communications between alarm installations and central
monitoring stations. The increase in the Wireless Data Communication services revenue was primarily due to an increase in
the number of connections to our Cellemetry wireless network. Connection increases were generated by sales of our
security products as well as those generated by value added resellers who utilize the Cellemetry network to provide
customer solutions. We continue to focus on, increasing connections to our network due to the recurring nature of service
revenues. -

Net revenue from Digital Multimedia and Networking decreased 11.3% to $6.6 million for the year ended. .
December 31, 2005 as compared to $7.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This decrease was primarily
due to a 33.9% decrease in product sales to $2.3 million, primarily due to decreased sales of our interactive
videoconferencing products (PowerPlay™) directly or indirectly (as a subcontractor) to distance-learning customers.
Capital spending by targeted distance learning customers is largely funded by government entities and, as a result, is
difficult to predict and can fluctuate significantly from period to period. The decrease in product sales was offset by an
8.3% increase in Digital Multimedia and Networking service revenues, which increased to $4.3 mitlion for the year
ended December 31, 2005 compared to $4.0 million during the same period in 2004. Most of this increase was due to
substantial increases in sales of integration and installation services. Installation and integration services are primarily,
either directly or indirectly, provided to large wireline and wireless telecommunication companies. While service
revenues have increased for the year, we cannot predict whether telecommunications customers will maintain their
current level of capital expenditures.

Net revenues from Wireline Security increased 6.0% to $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 as
compared to $991,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase is attributable to a 9.4% increase in product
sales to $383,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005, ‘compared to '$350,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004.
This increase .in product sales is due to sales of maintenance parts to-a customer.in Australia with which we have an
equipment supply agreement, as discussed further below.

Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003

Net revenues from Wireless Data Communications increased 15.1% to $14.6 million for the year ended December
31, 2004 as compared to $12.7 million for the year ended Décember 31, 2003. The increase in net revenues was the result of
a 22.2% increase in product sales and a 10.7% increase in service sales compared to the prior year . The $1.1 million .
increase in Wireless Data Communications product sales of for the year ended December 31, 2004 versus the same ‘period
in 2003 was primarily the result of increased sales of our.new wireless vending machine monitoring product (VendViewT™)
and in our vehicle security products and tracking services, MobileGuardian®. The VendView product was only introduced
in the fourth quarter of 2003. Product sales also increased due to higher demand for Uplink Security devices used for
wireless communications between alarm installations and central monitoring stations. The increase in the Wireless Data
Communication services was primarily due to an increase in the number of connections to our Cellemetry wireless network.
These increases were achieved even though we sold our short messaging service DatalSource in September 2003.
Connection increases were generated by sales of our security products as well as those generated by value added resellers
who utilize the Cellemetry network to provide customer solutions.

Net revenues from Digital Multimedia and Networking increased 20.1% to $7.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 as compared to $6.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase in 2004 was
primarily due to a 29.7% increase in product sales to $3.4 million, primarily due to increased sales of our interactive
videoconferencing products (PowerPlay™) directly or indirectly (as a subcontractor) to distance-learning customers. In
addition, Digital Multimedia and Networking service revenues increased 12.8% to $4.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 compared to $3.5 million during the same period in 2003. Most of this increase was due to
substantial increases in integration and installation services. Installation and integration services are primarily, either
directly or indirectly, provided to large wireline and wireless telecommunication companies. Wireless carrier demand for
these services can fluctuate dramatically in response to an environment of increasing customer demand for their services
while at the same time they attempt to control their own capital expenditures. There was a significant increase of
installation and integration services by the wireless carriers in the second and third quarter of 2004 as a result of
government mandated provision of emergency 911 services by the end of this year.

Net revenues from Wireline Security decreased 24.1% to $991,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 as
compared to $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Most of the Wireline product sales in 2003 were the sales
of maintenance parts to a customer in Australia with which we have an equipment supply agreement (the “Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Agreement, in May 2003, we shipped $583,000 of wireline security detection equipment to the customer, in
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exchange for a share of the customer’s future revenues. Although, under the Agreement, the customer retains title to this
equipment following its acceptance, it must meet certain obligations under the Agreement, or pay amounts specified in the
Agreement. Since the actual revenue that will be generated by the sale of the equipment was uncertain at December 31,
2004, we did not recognize revenue on the equipment sale as of that date. During the twelve-month period ended December

31, 2004 there was sales of maintenance parts to the customer that were not made pursuant to the Agreement. The sale price’
was fixed and payable in accordance with our normal terms and conditions. Accordingly, we recognized revenues from the
sales of the maintenance parts to the customer in the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. The
customer completed installation of the wireline security detection equipment in December 2003. We received our first share
of revenues from the services in the third quarter of 2004.

Selected Quarterly Financial Data

The following tables detail certain unaudited financial data of Numerex for each quarter of the last two fiscal
years ended December 31, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

Our financial results may fluctuate from quarter to quarter as a result of certain factors related to our
business, including the timing of product shipments, new product introductions and equipment, and product and
system sales that historically have been of a non-recurring nature.

This information has been prepared from our books and records in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles for intenm financial information. In the opinion of management, all (including only normal,
recurring) adjustments considered necessary for fair presentation have been included. Interim results for any quarter
are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any future period.
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

For the Three Months Ended
September = December

(in thousands) , ‘
March 31, June 30, 30, -3,

. 2005 2005 2005 2005
Net sales: ‘
Wireless Data Communications
Product $ 2310 § 2474 § 3059 § 4,077
Service ' : _ 2,546 2,531 2,558 2,772
Sub-total 4,856 5,005 : 5,617 6,849
Digital Multimedia and Networking . v '
Product . 275 728 953 - 315
Service ' 824 1,155 1,251 1,067
Sub-total : .- 1,099 1,883 ) 2,204 1,382
Wireline Security ’ '
Product ' ' 37 324 9 13
Service 185 151 179 153
Sub-total : ‘ 222 475 188 166
Total net sales
Product 2,622 3,526 4,021 4,405
Service 3,555 3,837 3,988 3,992
Total net sales 6,177 7,363 &,009 8,397
Cost of product sales (excluding depréciation) 2,186 2,505 2,991 3,622
Cost of services (excluding depreciation and
amortization) 1,255 1,548 1,533 1,413
Depreciation and amortization 51 53 41 46
Gross Profit . 2,685 3257 3,444 3,316
Selling, general, and administrative expenses ‘ 2,152 2,094 2,215 2,194
Research and development expenses 270 286 278 273
Bad debt expense 58 101 83 83
Depreciation and amortization 454 438 386 371
Operating loss (249) 338 482 395
Interest income (expense) o (192) 94 (62) 27
Net earnings (loss) (441) 244 420 422
Provision for Income taxes 39 4 9 -
Net earnings (loss) $ (480) S 240 § 411§ 422
Foreign currency transtation adjustment ©) ¢)) )] 20
Comprehensive earnings (loss) i (486) 3 239§ 410 $ 442
Basic income (loss) per common share $ (0.04) $§ 002 § 004 $ 0.04
Diluted income (loss) per common share $ 0.04) § 002 3§ 003 3 0.04
Basic 10,837 10,903 11,528 11,642
Diluted 10,837 11,957 12,023 11,873
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

For the Three Months Ended

(in thousands) _ September December
March 31, June 30, 30, 31,
: 2004 2004 2004 2004
Net sales:

Wireless Data Communications

~ Product ‘ .3 1421  § 1,309 § 1,485 § . 1,698
Service . | : : 1,991 2,143 2,150 2,403
Sub-total ' ‘ ‘ 3412 3,452 3,635 4,101
Digital Multimedia and Networking -
- Product . | | B 320 819 1,322 973
Service C 709 1,153 1,028 1,078
Sub-total . . 1,029 1,972 2,350 2,051
Wireline Security
Product | 151 143" 45 1
Service . . : 177 186 142 136
Sub-total ' 328 329 187 147
Total net sales |
Product ‘ ' 1,892 2,271 - 2,852 2,682
Service ' 2,877 . 3,482 3,320 3,617
Total net sales 4,769 5,753 6,172 6,299
Cost of product sales (excluding depreciation) ‘ ' 1,630 1,858 2,043 2,095
Cost of services (exéluding depreciation and an—lonization) ‘ . ‘ C
910 1,288 1,395 1,350
Depreciation and amortization 110 100 87 88
Gross Profit S - 2,119 2,507 2,647 2,766
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 2,153 2,310 2,074 2,118
Reséarch and development expehseé 278 202 205 221
Bad debt expense 168 116 131 60
Depreciation and amortization 427 409 a1t 417
Operating loss - (907 (530) (174) (50)
Interest income {(expense) 136 (179) (148) (218)
Net loss - 7ty (709) (322) (268)
Provision for Income taxes v ‘ - - 18 9)
Net loss $ 7711 % (709 $ - (340) " % (259)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 69) (). (13) . -
Comprehensive loss $ _(840) $ (711)  § (353) § (259)
Basic loss per common share  ~ ) - $ 0.08) % 0.07) § 0.03) % (0.02)
Diluted loss per common share 5 (0.08) $ (0.07) S (0.03) $ (0.02)
Basic ' 10,792 10,796 10,798 10,798
Diluted " 10,792 10,796 10798 10,798
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We had working capital of $4.8 million as of December 31, 2005 compared to working capital of $1.2
million at December 31, 2004. We had cash balances of $4.4 million and $1.7 million, respectively, as of December
31, 2005 and December 31, 2004.

The majority of the increase in working capital reflects the increase in our cash balances as well as an
increase in accounts receivable related to increased sales.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 as
compared to $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This $1.8 million improvement was partially due to
an increase in net earnings to $593,000 from a $2.1 operating loss in 2004. The increase was also due to an increase
" in accounts payable of $1.2 million, partially offset by an increase in notes receivable of $746,000.

Net cash used in investing activities was $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to
$570,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase in cash used in investing activities was primarily due
to a short-term investment in commercial paper as well as the addition of tangible and intangible assets.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $691,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 as
compared to $84,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004. This increase was primarily due to proceeds
from the note payable we issued to Laurus in January 2005, partially offset by principal payments on both of the
Laurus notes of $713,000 and principal payments on capital lease obligations of $99,000. Cash provided by financing
activities during the year ended December 31, 2004 was primarily from the proceeds of the note payable issued to
Laurus in January 2004, partially offset by principal payments on this note of $468,000 and principal payments on
capital lease obligations of $309,000.

Our business has traditionally not been capital intensive and, accordingly, capital expenditures have not been
material. To date, we have funded all capital expenditures from working capital, capital leases and other long-term
obligations, and the proceeds from notes payable we have issued.

We paid principal and interest of approximately $713,000 on our notes payable during the twelve months
ended December 31, 2005. Laurus opted to convert 111,720 shares of our common stock at a price of $4.56 per share
for principal payment on our notes during the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. We voluntarily converted
$3,233,040 of the outstanding debt associated with the Laurus note issued in January 2004 into 709,000 shares of our
common stock during the twelve months ended December 31, 2005.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, together with cash generated from operations, will be
more than sufficient to meet our operating requirements for at least the next twelve months. This belief could be
affected by unexpected operating losses, a material adverse change in our operating business or a default under our
outstanding notes payable. We continually consider other sources of funding, including the sale of certain non-core

assets.

Contractual Obligations

The table below sets forth our contractual ob.ligations at December 31, 2005.

Payments due by period
Less More

than 1 1-3 3-5 than 5
(in thousands) : Total Year Years Years Years
Long-term Debt* $1,208 $490 $718
Capital lease obligations 118 58 60
Operating lease :
obligations 4 2,488 414 846 818 410

Total $3,814 $962 31,624 5818 8410

* This debt is convertible into the Company’s common stock at both the Company’s and Lender’s option depending
on the Company’s stock price (see description of this financing in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section above).
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2005, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item
303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC regulation S-K.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

Effect of Inflation

Inflation has not been a material factor affecting out business. In recent years the cost of ‘electronic
components has remained relatively stable, due to competitive pressures within the industry, which has enabled us to
contain our manufacturing and operations costs. Our general operating expenses, such as salaries, employee benefits; -

and facilities costs are subject to normal inflationary pressures, but to date inflation has not had a material effect on
our operating results.

Foreign Currency

Our functional and reporting currency is the U.S. Dollar. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates
have not, and are not expected to have a material impact on our results of operations or liquidity.
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NUMEREX CORP.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(In thousands, except share information)

December 31, December 31,
2005 2004

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS »
Cash and cash equivalents S 2,821 $ 1,684
Short-term investments . ‘ 1,538 -
Accounts recelvable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of
$1,418 at December 31, 2005 and $1,084 at December 31, 2004: 6,046 3,986
Notes Receivable - 41
Inventory : ' 1,694 1,561
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 517 736
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 12,616 8,008
Property and Equipment, Net ' 986 840
Goodwill, Net " 15,014 15,014
Other Intangibles, Net : 6,268 7,213
Software, Net 1,020 598
Other Assets 444 939
TOTAL ASSETS ' 3 36,348 $ 32,612
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 391t § 2,601
Other current liabilities 1,876 1,603
Accrued commission 450 -
Note payable, current 490 1,637
Deferred revenues 1,056 906
Dbligations under capital leases, current portion 58 33
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,841 6,780
ILONG TERM LIABILITIES
Obligations under capital leases and other long term liabilities 60 2
Note Payable 718 2,178
TOTAL LONG TERM LIABILITIES : 778 2,180
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock - no par value; anthorized 3,000,000; none issued _ - -
Class A common stock — no par value; authorized 30,000,000;
issued 14,033,877 shares at December 31, 2005 and 13,203,660
shares at December 31, 2004 40,050 36,872
Additional paid-in-capital 1,136 809
Treasury stock, at cost, 2,391,400 shares on December 31, 2005
and December 31, 2004 (10,197) (10,197)
Class B common stock — no par value; authorized 5,000,000; none
issued - -
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ) 13
Accumulated deficit (3,252) (3.,845)
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 27,729 23,652
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 3 36,348 $ 32,612

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NUMEREX CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands, except per share data)

FOR THE YEARS
ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2005 2004 2003
Net sales:
Product $ 14,573 3 9,697 $ 7,935
Service 15,373 13,296 12,222

Total net sales 29,946 22,993 20,157
Cost of product sales (excluding depreciation) 11,303 7,626 6,043
Cost of services (excluding depreciation and amortization) 5,748 4,943 4,443
Depreciation and amortization 178 385 642
Gross Profit 12,717 10,039 9,029
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 8,663 . 8,624 8,371
Research and development expenses 1,106 906 905
Bad debt expense 325 476 551
Depreciation and amortization 1,662 1,664 1,928

Operating earnings (loss) 961 (1,631) (2,726)
Net interest expense 311) (637) (354)
Gain on sale of assets ‘ ‘ - 250 1,712
Net other income and {expense) %) ‘ (32) 56

Earnings (loss) before income taxes 645 (2,070) (1,312)
Provision for income taxes 52 9 92

Net earnings (loss) 593 2,079) (1,404)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes:
Foreign currency translation adjustment 20 ‘ (84) 106

Comprehensive earnings (loss) 3 613 $ 2,163) $ (1,298
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.05 $ 0.19) $ 0.13)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 3 0.05 3 0.19) $ 0.13)
Weighted average common shares used in per share calculation

Basic 11,231 10,798 10,934

Diluted o 11,482 10,798 10,934

See accompanying note to consolidated financial statements
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NUMEREX CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In Thousands)
: For the years ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings (loss) $ 593 $ (2,079) $ (1,404)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Depreciation 562 671 1,062
Amortization 1,279 1,380 1,508
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 34 476 551
Inventory Reserves (642) 284 272
Non cash interest expense 104 255 -
Gain on Sale of business unit - (250) (1,712)
Compensation Expense 65 71 60
Changes in assets and liabilities which provided
(used) cash:
Accounts and notes receivable (2,056) (1,310) 1,411
Inventory 509 1,615 775
Prepaid expenses & interest receivable 129 79 303
Other assets 497 - 86
Accounts payable 1,311 101 (1,613)
Other liabilities 742 96 (549)
Deferred Revenue 150 131 (44)
Net cash provided by operating activities: 3,277 1,520 706
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (517) (215) 75
Purchase of intangible and other assets ' (756) (386) (2,604)
Purchase of short-term investment (1,538) - -
Proceeds the from sale of a business - 200 3,197
Increase (decrease) in deposits and long term receivables - (169 -
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (2,811) (570) 518
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options 3 33 25
Proceeds from line of credit - - 400
Proceeds from note payable and debt 1,500 4,283 -
Purchase of treasury stock ) - - - (975)
Principal payments on capital lease obligations 99) (309) (1,271)
Principal payments on notes payable and debt (M2) (3,922) (400)
Dividend payment on preferred stock - - (480)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities: 692 84 (2,701)
Effect of exchange differences on cash ) (e2))] (84) 74
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,137 950 (1,403)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,684 734 2,137
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year - » $ 2,821 $ 1,684 3 734
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information :
Cash payments for:
Interest 231 360 354
Income taxes g 52 .26 92
Disclosure of non-cash activities: ‘ .
Capital leases 182 . 32 3
Non cash interest expense ' 104 255 -
Non cash financing payments A 3,329 - -
Non cash leasehold improvement 158 - -

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NUMEREX CORP. AND SUBSID]ARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of the significant accounting policies consnstently applied in the preparation of the accompanymg
financial statements follows:

1. Nature of Business

Numerex Corp. is a technology company comprised of operating subsidiaries that develop and market a wide
range of communications products and services. Our primary focus is wireless data communications utilizing
proprietary network technologies. We primarily offer products and services in wireless data communications through
Cellemetry, and digital multimedia networking through PowerPlay and IPContact. Uplmk Security, Inc., a wholly
owned subsidiary of Cellemetry, provides cost effective alarm security products, services, and related technical
support utilizing Cellemetry wireless data communications technology. In February 2003 we introduced
MobileGuardian, a Web-based vehicle location and recovery solution that combines the accuracy of GPS (Global
Positioning System} and Cellemetry wireless data communications technology. We also introduced VendView, a
product and service offering that is a Web-based vending machine monitoring solution that also uses the Cellemetry
wireless data communications technology. These services enable customers around the globe to monitor and move
information for a variety of applications from home and business security to distance learning, In addition, we offer
wireline alarm security products and services, as well as telecommunications network operational support systems.

2. Principles of Consolidation

THe consolidated financial statements include the results of operations and financial position of Numerex and
its wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consotidation.

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents - )

Cash equivalents of $2.8 million and $1.7 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, consist of
overnight repurchase agreements, money market deposit accounts, amounts on deposit in a foreign bank and restricted
cash held as a letter of credit. Cash of $60,000 and $35,000 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively was held in
our foreign bank account. Restricted cash of $46,000 was held as a letter of credit on December 31, 2005.

4, Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments that have an original maturity between three months and one year and a rémaining
maturity of less than one year are classified as either held-to-maturity or available-for-sale. Held-to-maturity securities
are stated at amortized cost as it is our intent to hold these securities until maturity. Available-for-sale securities are
recorded at fair value and are classified as current assets due to.our intent and practice to hold these readily marketable

investments for less than one year. Any unrealized ho]dmg gains and losses related to available-for-sale securities are
recorded, net of tax, as a separate component.

The investment securities held by the Company at December 31, 2005 are debt instruments and classified as
held-to-maturity. The fair value of the securities are $1,538,000 and the unrecognized gain amounted to $9,000. The
contractual maturity of the debt securities is $1,547,000. The security will mature on February 13, 2006,

5. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of developed software, patents and acquired intellectual property, and goodwill.
These assets, except for goodwill, are amortized over their expected useful lives. Developed software is amortized
using the straight-line method over 3 to 5 years. Patents and acquired intellectual property are amortized using the
straight-line method over 7 to 16 years. In accordance with the Statement of Financial Accountmg Standards No. 142
(“SFAS 142), there is no goodwill amortization in 2005, 2004 and 2003.

We capitalize software development costs when project technological feasibility is established and conclude
capitalization when the product is ready for release. Software development costs incurred prior to the establishment
of technological feasibility are expensed as incurred. We capitalized $411,000, $139,000 and $92,000 during the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The increase in capitalization in 2005 is related to our
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development efforts for digital ‘products. Amortization of capitalized software was $101,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2005, $61,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 and $46,000 for the year ended December 31,
2003.

We adopted SFAS 142 on January 1, 2002. In connection with the adoption, we reviewed the classification
of our goodwill and other intangible assets, reassessed the useful lives previously assigned to other intangible assets,
and discontinued amortization of goodwill. SFAS 142 also requires that an impairment test be performed on goodwill
at feast annually. This test requires that the fair value of each reporting unit as a whole be compared to its carrying
value including goodwill. If the reporting unit’s fair value exceeds its carrying value, goodwill is not impaired. If,
however, the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, a second step of the impairment test is
required. This second test requires that an estimate of the implied fair value of goodwill be compared to its carrying
amount. If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the implied value, the goodwill is impaired and is written down
to the implied fair value. The implied fair value of goodwill is the excess of the fair value of the reporting unit as a
whole, over the fair values that would be assigned to its assets and liabilities in a purchase business combination. We
tested goodwill for impairment as of December 31, 2005, using our 3-year business plan and calculating a discounted
cash flow based on that plan to determine the fair value of the reporting units. As a result, we determined that the fair
value of our reporting units exceeded their carrying value, thus no impairment was recorded. The components of
intangible assets are as follows: '

December 31,

(In thousands) 2005 2004

Wireless Data Communications

Goodwill A - $ 12,284 § 12,284

Accumulated Amortization (1,405) (1,405)
Digital Multimedia and Networking

Goodwill 5,409 5,409

Accumulated Amortization (1,274) (1,274)

Goodwill, net’ N 15014 § 15,014
Purchased and developed software 3,268 2,664
Patents, trade and service marks . . 11,452 11,449
Intangible and other assets 503 361

Total intangible assets 15,223 . 14,474
Accumulated amortization (7,935) ' (6,663)

Intangible assets, net $ 7,288 § 7,811

The Company expects amortization expense for the next five years to b as follows based on intangiblé assets as
of December 31, 2005 (in thousands}):

2006 $1.1 million

- 2007 930,000
2008 871,000
2009 793,000
2010 772,000
Thereafter ' 750,000

6. Property and Equipment

Depreciation is provided in amounts sufficient to relate the cost of depreciable assets to operations over their
estimated service lives. Leased property under capital leases is amortized over the lives of the respective leases.or
over the service lives of the assets for those leases, whichever is shorter. Depreciation for property and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method over the following estimated lives:

e .. Short-term leasehold improvements over the term of the lease 3-10 years
¢ Plant and machinery : 4-10 years
¢ Equipment, fixtures and fittings 3-10 years
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7. Impairment of Long-lived Assets

We adopted SFAS No. 144 on January 1, 2002. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, long-lived assets, such as
property and equipment, and purchased intangibles subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances  indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to
estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by .the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of by sale would be separately presented
in the consolidated balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and
are no longer depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a disposed group classified as held for sale would be presented
separately in the appropnate asset and liability sections of the consolidated balance sheet.

8. Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method in accordance with SFAS 109, Accounting
for Income Taxes. Under the asset and lability method, deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax
consequences of “temporary differences” by applying enacted statutory tax rates -applicable to future years to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities. A
valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that the assets will not be
realized. : )

9. Inventory
Inventory and work-in progress are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market. .

10. Notes Receivable .

We did not have any notes receivable at December 31, 2005. We had $133,000 of notes receivable (341,000
short term and $92,000 long term) at December 31, 2004, These notes were paid in full in 2005.

11. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We maintain an allowance for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required
payments. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based principally upon specifically identified amounts where
collection is deemed doubtful. Additional non-specific allowances are recorded based on historical experience and
management’s assessment of a variety of factors related to the general financial condition and business prospects of
our customer base. Management reviews the collectibility of individual accounts and assesses the adequacy of the
allowance for doubtful accounts monthly. Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of
collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote.

12, Other Assets

In May 2003, we shipped $583,000 of wire-line security detection equipment to a customer in Australia.
This equipment has been installed at several sites based on an equipment supply agreement (the “Agreement™) with
this customer. The Agreement allows the customer to generate additional revenues by providing additional services to
its customers. We will share in these revenues as payment for the equipment. While this customer retains title to this
equipment from acceptance (which occurred May 2003), it must meet certain obligations under the Agreement or pay
amounts specified in the Agreement. Since the actual revenue that will be generated by the sale of the equipment is
uncertain at this time, we are recognizing revenue on the sale of the equipment equal to the. payments received from
this customer from this revenue share. We also recognized cost of sales equal to the payments received from the
customer. and reduced the value of this asset. We received our first payments from this customer in September 2004.
Currently we expect to receive at least the full value of the equipment from this revenue share, however, as more
information becomes available, we will reassess the accounting treatment for the project. At June 30, 2003, the value
of the wire-line equipment was transferred from inventory to other assets. The carrying value of the equipment was
$304,000 at December 31, 2005 and $477,000 at December 31, 2004,

13. Note Pavable

On January 28, 2003, the Company completed a private placement to Laurus Master Fund, Ltd. (“Laurus™) of

{i) a Convertible Term Note in the original principal amount of $1,500,000 (the “Second Company Note™), and (ii) a

wartant to purchase up to 100,000 shares of our common stock (the “Second Warrant”). The Second Company Note
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bears interest at the rate of eight percent (8%) per annum, matures on January 28, 2008 and is secured by substantially
all of our assets and our U.S. subsidiaries (except DCX Systems Australia Pty Limited). Each of our U.S. subsidiaries
also has executed and delivered a guaranty to Laurus. ‘The Second Company Note requires that interest and principal
thereunder is to be paid monthly, and provides that such monthly principal and interest payments may be paid by us
either in cash or in common stock, subject to certain limitations. If the monthly payment then due is paid by us using
common stock, then the number of shares to be issued by us to Laurus will be determined based upon a fixed
conversion price of $5.31 per share. Otherwise, if the monthly payment then due is paid by us using cash, then we are
required to pay Laurus an amount equal to one hundred two percent (102%) of the amount then due and payable. The
Second Company Note also provides that Laurus may convert all or any portion of the outstanding principal amount
of the Second Company Note into shares of common stock, subject to certain limitations. The Second Warrant is
exercisable by Laurus until January 28, 2012, and has two separate pricing tranches. The first pricing tranche is
exercisable for up to 50,000 shares of common stock at a price of $5.51 per share. The second pricing tranche is
exercisable for up to 50,000 shares of common stock at a price of $5.72 per share. We were required to register the
common stock underlying the Second Company Warrant for resale by Laurus, and have such registration declared
effective, by August 28, 2005. Such registration statement was declared effective June 17, 2005. The Second
Company: Note also contains a Beneficial Conversion Feature with a contingent conversion option. The value of the
Beneficial Conversion Feature was measured as of the commitment date. The value at the commitment date was
$154,000. The value will be amortized ratably over the remaining period of the Note once the contingencies have been
met. As of December 31,2005 $17,000 has been amortized.

On January 13, 2004, we completed our first private placement to Laurus of (i) a Convertible Term Note in
the aggregate principal amount of $4,500,000 (the “First Company Note™), and (ii) a warrant to purchase up to
300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “First Warrant™). The First Warrant is exercisable by Laurus
until January 13, 2011, and has three separate tranches. The first tranche is exercisable for up to 150,000 shares of
common stock at a price of $4.75 per share. The second tranche is exercisable for up to 100,000 shares of common
stock at a price of $5.17 per share. The third tranche is exercisable for up to 50,000 shares of common stock at a price
of $5.99 per share. We also agreed to register the common stock underlying the First Company Warrant for resale by
Laurus, and have such registration declared effective, by August 13, 2004. Such registration statement was declared
effective on November 22, 2004. Thus, under the terms of the First Company Warrant, we were required to increase
the number of shares of common stock underlying the First Company Warrant by 15,000 additional shares per month
(at an exercise price of $5.99 per share) during the period from August 13, 2004 through November 22, 2004. As a
result, an additional 66,000 warrants were issued and are covered by the First Warrant Agreement.

On July 6, 2005 we voluntarily converted $2,280,000 of the outstanding debt associated with the First Company Note
into 500,000 shares of common stock. On August 1, 2005 we converted the $953,040 remaining outstanding portion
of the debt associated with the First Company Note into 209,000 shares of common stock. As a result of these
transactions; the only outstanding debt of the Company, excluding capital leases, is the Second Company Note of
$1,500,000. However, the Warrants associated with the First Company Note remain outstanding,.

Laurus is an "accredited investor" as defined in Rule 501(d) of Regulation D under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"). The Company issued the securities to Laurus in reliance on the exemption
from registration provided by Section 4(2) under the Securities Act.

As a result of the July 6, 2005 and the August I, 2005 transactions with Laurus, stockholders have
experienced dilution and will experience future dilution based on transactions with Laurus, or the equity securities
may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of the common stockholders. In addition, as a result of
issuing debt, those securities have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of the common stock holders. If
we are unable to repay the Company Notes, Laurus has the right to demand full payment of all outstanding principal
and interest due under the Company Notes and invoke its right to the collateral under the related security agreements.

14, Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ equity increased by $4.1 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. The
increase in Shareholders’ equity was due, in part, to a $3.2 million issuance of common shares which was related to
the conversion of the First Company Note. Shareholders’ equity also increased due to net earnings of $593,000 and a
$326,000 increase in additional paid in capital. The increase in addition paid in capital was due to $172,000 related to
the issuance of warrants related to the Second Company note and $154,000 related to the Beneficial Conversion
Feature that is also related to the Second Company note.

18, Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments include cash, accounts receivable, notes receivable and accounts payable. The
carrying value of the financial instruments approximates fair value due to the relatively short period to maturity. The
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carrying value of the note payable approximates fair value and bears cash interest at 8%, which approximates market
rates of similar instruments.

16. Use of Estimates

In preparing our financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and habilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results

could differ from those estimates.

17. Concentration of Credit Risk

We maintain our cash and short term investment balances in financial institutions, which at times may exceed
federally insured limits. We had cash balances in excess of these limits of $4,259,000 and $1,584,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. We have not experienced any losses in such accounts and believe
we are not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and cash equivalents.

18. Revenue Recognition

Our revenue is generated from three sources:

¢ the supply of product, under non recurring agreements,

¢ the provision of services, under non recurring agreements, and,

s the provision of data transportatzon services, under recurring or multi-year contractually based agreements.

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, the product or service has been
dehvered fees and prices are fixed and determinable, collecnblhty is probable and when alt other significant
obligations have been fulfilled. :

We recognize revenue from product sales at the time of shipment and passage of title. We offer customers the
right to return products that do not function properly within a limited time after delivery. We continuously monitor
and track such product returns and record a provision for the estimated amount of such future returns, based on
historical experience and any notification received of pending returns. While such returns have historically been
within expectations and the provisions established, we cannot guarantee that we will continue to experience the same
return rates that we have experienced in the past. Any significant increase in product failure rates and the resulting
credit returns could have a material adverse impact on operating results for the period or periods in which such returns
materialize.

We recognize revenue from the provision of services at the time of the completion, delivery or performance
of the service. In the case of revenue derived from maintenance services we recognize revenue ratably over the
contract term. In certain instances we may under an appropriate agreement advance charge for the service to be
provided. In these instances we recognize the advance charge as deferred revenue (classified as a liability) and release
the revenue ratably over future periods in accordance with the contract term as the service is completed, delivered or
performed.

Our arrangements do not generally include acceptance clauses. However, arrangements involving multiple
element service agreements include certain milestones and levels of certification, acceptance occurs upon our
certification of our completion of each of the various elements.

We recognize revenue from the provision of our data transportation services when we perform the services or
process transactions in accordance with contractual performance standards. Revenue is earned monthly on the basis of
the contracted monthly fee and an excess message fee charge, should it apply, that is volume based. In certain
instances we may under an appropriate agreement advance charge for the data transport service to be provided. In
these instances we recognize the advance charge (even if nonrefundable) as deferred revenue (classified as a liability)
and release the revenue over future periods in accordance with the contract term as the data transport service is
delivered or performed.

19. Foreign Currency Transactions

While the majority of our transactions and the transactions of our subsidiaries occur in the United States in

U.S. dollars, a limited number are made in Canadian dollars, Australian dollars, and British pounds sterling. Such

transactions include recurring service revenues bitled to customers in Canada that are denominated in Canadian

dollars, some transactions between Numerex Corp. and its small subsidiary in Australia are denominated in Australian

dollars. Gains and losses from these transactions are included in income as they occur. For the year ended December
41




31, 2005 the Company had a foreign currency loss of $5,000, a loss of $52,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004
and a loss of $60,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003. .

20. Research and Development

Research and development expenses are charged to operations in the period in which they are incurred. For
the Years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 research and deve]opment costs amounted to S1.1 m11]10n
$906,000 and $905,000, respectively. .

21. Provision for Warranty Claims

Estimated warranty expense is charged over the warranty period of the warranted products. Warranty
expenses have not been significant. .

22. Steck-Based Compensation

Effective November 1, 1996, we adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation. SFAS No. 123 encourages, but does not require, companies to record compensation cost for stock-
based compensation plans at fair value. We have elected to continue to account for stock-based compensation in
accordance with Accounting Principles Board (“APB") Opinion No. 25, Accounting For Stock Issued to Employees,
and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS 123. Compensation expense for stock options is measured as the
excess, if any, of the quoted market price of our stock at the date of the grant over the amount an employee must pay
to acquire the stock (see Note J).

Had compensation expense. for our aforementioned stock option plans been determined based on the fair
value at the grant dates for awards under those plans under the provisions of SFAS No. 123, our net earnmgs (loss)
and earnings (loss) per share would have been changed to the following pro forma amounts:

: . For the years ended December 31,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2005 2004 2003

Net earnings (loss) - as reported § 593 $ (2,079 8§ (1,404)
Less total stock-based compensation expense determined ‘
under fair value based method for all awards 455 637 2,355
Pro forma net earnings (loss) ‘ § 138 $§ (2,716) & (3,759
Basic'eamings (loss) per share: . ,

As reported _ , § 0.05 $ (.19 § (0.13).
Proforma = . 4 , $ 001 $ (025 $ (0.34)

-Diluted eamings (loss) per share:
As reported $ 005 § 0199 § (0.13)

Pro forma | § 001 $ (025 $ (0.34)

The pro forma effect on net loss and loss per share for the years ended December 31; 2005, 2004, and 2003,
respectively, by applying SFAS No. 123, may not be indicative of the pro forma effect on net earnings (loss) in future
years since SFAS No. 123 does not take into consideration pro forma compensation expense related to awards made
prior to November 1, 1995, and since additional awards in future years are anticipated.

23. ° Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic net earnings per common share available to common shareholders is based on the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding excluding the dilutive impact of common stock equivalents. For periods in
which we have net eamings, we base diluted net earnings per share on the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding and dilutive potential common shares, such as dilutive common stock equivalents.

- The numerator in calculating both basic and diluted net earnings per share for each period is net earnings.
The denommator is based on the following number of common shares:
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_ ‘ For the years ended December 31,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2005 2004 2003

Common Shares:
Weighted average common shares outstandmg 11,231 10,798 10,934
Dilutive effect of common stock equivalents - 251 - -
Total ' » 11,482 10,798 ‘10,934
Net earnings (loss): k 593 - 2,079 . (1,404)
Net eamnings (loss) per share: ; '
Basic 0.05 (0.19) (0.13)
Diluted ‘ 0.05 (0.19) 0.13)

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, we excluded options to purchase 1,044,015 shares of
common stock and common stock equivalents from the computation of diluted eamings per share. We excluded these
share amounts because the exercise prices of those shares were greater than the average market price of the common
stock during the applicable period.

Because of the antidulitive effect of the net loss, potential common shares resulting from options, convertible
debt and warrants were excluded from the calcuiation of diluted earnings per share for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2004 and for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003. For the twelve months ended December 31,
2004, options to purchase 200,710 shares of common stock and common stock equivalents, and for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2003 options to purchase 62,149 shares of common stock and common stock equivalents would
have been taken into account in calculating diluted earnings per share were it not for the antidilutive effect of the net
loss.

As of December 31, 2005, we had a total of 1,379,015 options outstanding, as of December 31, 2004, we had
a total of 1,404,515 options outstanding and as of December 31, 2003 we had a total of 1,200,515 options outstanding.

24. Advertising Expenses

Advertising expenses are charged to operations in the period in which they are incurred. For the Years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 advertising costs amounted to $391,000, $314,000 and $389,000, respectively.

25. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement (*SFAS™) No. 123
(Revised 2004), ““Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS No. 123(R)”). SFAS No. 123(R) requires that the compensation cost relating .
to share-based payment transactions, including grants of employee stock options, be recognized in financial statements. That
cost will be measured based on the fair value of the equity or liability instruments at the time of issuance. SFAS No. 123(R)
covers a wide range of share-based compensation arrangements including stock options, restricted share plans, performance-
based awards, share appreciation rights, and employee share purchase plans. The effect of the standard will be to require
entities to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for stock awards based on its grant-date fair value and to
recognize the cost over the period the employee is required to provide services for the award.

Effective January 1, 2006 we adopted SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, or Statement 123(R). We
plan to use the modified prospective transition method for our existing stock-based compensation plans. Under the
modified prospective transition method, the fair value-based accounting method will be used for all employee awards
granted, modified, or settled after the adoption date. Compensation cost related to the nonvested portion of awards
outstanding as of that date will be based on the grant-date fair value of those awards as calculated under the original
provisions of SFAS No. 123. Under this method, it is estimated that the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) will result in
. approximately $350,000 of stock-based compensation expense before taxes in 2006 related to non-vested employee
options issued prior to the adoption date. We anticipate we will grant additional employee stock options during 2006.
The fair value of these grants is not included in the amount above, as the impact of these grants cannot be predicted at
this time because it will depend on the number of share-based payments granted and the then current fair values.

In November 2004, the FASB released revised SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs - an amendment of ARB No.
43” (“SFAS No. 1517). The new standard requires abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs,
and wasted material (spoilage) to be recognized as current-period charges. It also requires that allocation of fixed
production overhead to the costs of conversion be based on the nommal capacity of the production facilities. The |
requirements of the standard will be effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2005. Although we are still evaluating the impact that the adoption of SFAS No. 151" will have on our Consolidated
Financial Statements, we currently do not believe it w1l]43have a material impact as we have not historically had




any abnormally low levels of production, unplanned downtime, labor or material shortages.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 153 (“SFAS 153"), “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets—an amendment of APB Opinion No. 297,
SFAS 153 amends the guidance in APB Opinion No. 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions”, based on the
principle that exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured based on the fair value of the assets exchanged.
The guidance in Opinion 29, however, included certain exceptions to that principle. SFAS 153 amends Opinion 29 to
eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general
exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has
commercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are expected to change significantly as a result of the
exchange. The provisions of SFAS 153 are effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods
beginning after June 15, 2005. The provisions of SFAS 153 are not expected to have a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements, -

In May 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 154 (“SFAS 154"), “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections,” a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and
FASB Statement No. 3. SFAS 154 requires retrospective application to prior period financial statements for changes
in accounting principles, unless it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative
effect of the change. SFAS 154 also requires that retrospective application of a change in accounting principle be
limited to the direct effects of the change. Indirect effects of a change in accounting principle should be recognized in
the period of the accounting change. SFAS 154 further requires a change in depreciation, amortization or depletion
method for long-lived, non-financial assets to be accounted for as a change in accounting estimate affected by a
change in accounting principle. SFAS 154 will become effective for the Company’s fiscal year beginning January 1,
2006. The provisions of SFAS 154 are not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

The above discussion is not intended to be a comprehensive list of all of our accounting policies. In many
cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, with no need for management’s judgment in their application. There are also
areas in which management’s judgment in selecting any available alternative would not produce a materially different
result. See our audited consolidated financial statements and notes which begin on page 33 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K which contains accounting policies and other d]SClOSUI‘eS requlred by accountmg prmc1ples generally
accepted in the Umted States of America.

26. Reclassification

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.

NOTE B - LIQUIDITY

As disclosed in the financial statements, our operations generated cash in 2005. We continue to add products and
distribution channels for our products and we closely monitor our costs. Our long term success will depend upon
continued operating eamings and increased cash flow. .

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, together with cash generated from operations, will be
sufficient to meet our operating requirements through at least December 31, 2006. This belief could be affected by
future operating losses in excess of expectations, a material adverse change in our operatmg busmess or a default
under the Company Note. The Company is also considering other sources of funding.

NOTE C - INVESTMENTS AND DIVESTITURES

On September 15, 2003, we sold the DatalSource mobile messaging service through our entity DatalSource
LLC. The selling price was approximately $3,400,000 with $3,200,000 paid in cash at closing and $200,000 due in
six months, if certain criteria were met. The resulting gain included in other income in the year ended December 31,
2003 was $1,712,000. Cost associated with the transaction included the net book value of the assets sold, including
software and computer hardware, and transaction costs, including finder’s fees and legal costs. At closing, certain
obligations of ours were paid. These costs included the first payment due on the note payable to Cingular (see below)
of $1,500,000 and a $605,000 payoff of the lease obligation on the software sold with DatalSource. Subsequent to
the sale of DatalSource LLC, we used a portion of the proceeds to pay off the entire outstanding balance of $400,000
on our revolving line of credit. The sale of DatalSource LLC did. not meet the requirements to be considered a
significant disposition. In March 2004, we received the contingent payment on the sale of DatalSource LLC because
the criteria specified in the agreement had been met. Accordingly we recogmzed an additional $250,000 gain on the
sale during the year ended December 31, 2004. :
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On March 28, 2003, we acquired Cingular’s interest in Cellemetry and the 625,000 shares of our stock owned by
Cingular for $5,000,000. Under the terms of the agreement, we agreed to pay Cingular $1,500,000 by December 15,
2003, $2,000,000 by September 30, 2004 and $1,500,000 by December 15, 2004, Our obligation was secured by the
pledge of the stock of all our subsidiaries (except Digilog) and a lien on the assets of all our subsidiaries (except
Digilog) and accrued interest at a rate of eight percent (8%) per annum. On September 15, 2003, we made the first
payment of $1,500,000 due Cingular on the note using a portion of the proceeds from the sale of DatalSource LLC
and paid the remaining balance on January 13, 2004 from a portion of the proceeds from the term note payable to
Laurus Master Fund, Ltd. .

NOTE D - INVENTORY
Inventory consisted of the following:

December 31,

{In thousands) 2005 2004
Raw materials $ 349 % 830
Work-in-progress 8 ‘ 13
Finished goods 1,654 . 1,685
Less reserve for obsolescence (317) (967)
Inventory $ 1,694 § 1,561

NOTE E - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the ‘following:

December 31,

(In thousands) 2005 2004
Leasehold improvements 3 645 $ 449
Plant and machinery 7,925 7,327
Equipment, fixtures, fittings 572 687
Total property and equipment 9,142 8,463
Accumulated depreciation (8,156) (1,623)
Property and equipment, net 986 840

NOTE F - INCOME TAXES
For the periods noted below, the provisions for income taxes consists of the following:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Current:
Federal $ - § - $ -
State 52 9 30
Foreign - - 62
Deferred:
Federal - - -
Foreign - - . -
5 52 $ 9 $ . 92

Income taxes recorded by the Cormpany differ from the amounts computed by applying the statutory U.S.
federal income tax rate to income before income taxes. The following schedule reconciles income tax expense
{(benefit) at the statutory rate and the actual income tax expense as reflected in the consolidated statements of
-operations for the respective periods: '
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December 31,

(in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Income tax (benefit) computed at

U.S. corporate tax rate of 34% $219 ($704) (8595)

Adjustments attributable to

Valuation allowance (241) 677 595

State Tax , 34 9 30

Foreign Tax 6 6 62

Non-deductible expenses 16 21 -

Other 18 - -
352 $9 $92

The components of the Company’s net deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

(in thousands) December 31,

2005 2004
Current deferred tax asset :
Inventories $ 115 b 392
Accruals 642 471
Other 292 337
Valuation (1,049) {1,200)
Non-Current deferred tax asset
Intangibles 270 (224)
Foreign NOL carry forward 88 42
Net operating loss carry forward - 9,084 9,051
Tax credit carry forward 1,202 1,202
Differences between book and
tax basis of property & equiment 286 185
Valuation (10,390) (10,256)
Total $ - $ -

The change in the valuation allowance is attributable to current year book/tax dlfferences and state net operating
losses presented on a gross rather than net ba51s

Net operating loss carry forwards available at December 31,2005, expire as follows:

(in thousands) Year of
Amount Expiration

Federal operating losses $17,639 2006 - 2024
State operating losses $61,930 2007 - 2024
Foreign ‘ $ 295 N/A

We are entitled to the benefits of certain net operating loss carry forwards for income tax purposes. Subject
to applicable regulations, net operating loss camry forwards may be offset against income in future years to reduce the
our future tax lLiability. In March 2004, we filed a ruling request with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for an
extension of time to file an election to carry forward some net operating losses that were in question. In July 2004, we
received permission to carry the net operating losses forward. Therefore, we are entitled to the benefits of the net
operating loss carry forwards. The net operating loss carry forwards have been recorded as an asset in the financial
statements with a corresponding valuation allowance. We will continue to evaluate the need for the valuation
allowance on a quarterly basis beginning the first quarter of fiscal year 2006.
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NOTE G - SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMER, CONCENTRATION OF CRED]T RISK AND RELATED
PARTIES

We had one supplier from which our purchases were approximately 63% of cost of product sales for the year
ended December 31, 2005, 37% of cost of product sales for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 13% of cost of
product sales for the year ended December 31, 2003. Our accounts payable to this supplier was approximately $2.2
million and $700,000 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The components included in the products
purchased from this suppher can be sourced from other suppliers.

‘ We conducted business with one related party during the year ended December 31, 2005. Mr. Ryan, a
director on the Company’s Board of Directors is also partner in the law firm of Salisbury & Ryan LLP.. Salisbury &
Rvan LLP provided legal services to the Company in fiscal 2005 and will continue to provide such services during
fiscal 2006. During fiscal 2005 and 2004, Salisbury & Ryan LLP charged legal fees of approximately $263,000 and
$175,000. Our accounts payable to Salisbury & Ryan LLP was $49,000 and $27,000 at December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. During fiscal 2003, Salisbury & Ryan LLP charged us approximately $360,000.

NOTE H - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Capital Leases

We conduct a portion of our operations with leased equipment. For financial reporting purposes, minimum
lease rentals relating to the equipment have been capitalized.

The related assets and obligations have been recorded using our incremental borrowing rate at the inception
of the lease. . The leases expire at various dates through 2007. The net carrying value of assets financed by capital
lease obligations is approximated $129,000 as of December 31, 2005. The following is a schedule by years of future

minimum lease payments under capital leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments as
of December 31, 2005 (in thousands).

2006 5§ 62

2007 61
Total minimum lease payments = S
Less amount representing interest (5

Present value of net minimum lease payments $ 118

Operating Leases

We lease certain property and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases with initial terms in excess

of one year. Future minimum lease payments under such non-cancelable operating leases subsequent to December 31,
2003, (in thousands) are as follows:

2006 $ 414
2007 420
2008 - 426
2009 420
2010 398
Beyond 2010 410

Total minimum lease payments § 2,488

Rent expense, including short-term leases amounted to approximately $78] 000, $777,000 and $759 000 for
the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 respectively.

NOTE 1 - BENEFIT PLANS
Savings and Investment Plan

‘We sponsor a 401(k) savings and investment plan, a plan that covers all eligible employees of Numerex Corp
and its subsidiaries. Employees are eligible for participation on the enrollment date following six months of service.
We contribute an amount equal to 50% of the portion of the employee’s elective deferral contribution that do not
exceed 6% of the employee’s total compensation for each payroll period in which an elective deferral is made. Our
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contribution is made in cash on a monthly basis. Our matching contributions are vested over a three year period at a
rate of 33% per year. Approximately $101,000, $82,000 and $44,000 were expensed for the years ended December
31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

All employees of Numerex and its subsidiaries are entitled to participate in a discounted Employee Stock
Purchase Plan. This plan allows employees to elect to have an amount withheld from their pay that is held in an
account for the purchase of our common stock. The plan has two méasurement dates per year — July 1 and January 1,
which is used to determine the stock price at a 15% discount and number of shares issued to the employee. There are
a total of 500,000 shares authorized of which 450 and 1,675 were issued in the year ended December 31, 2005 and
December 31, 2004 at an average share price of $4.16 and $2.60, respectwcly We had 496,978 shares available to be
issued for this plan at December 31,2005.

NOTE J - STOCK OPTION PLANS

We have outstanding stock options granted pursuant to three stock option plans. The 1994 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (the “1994 Plan™), which was adopted in 1994, the Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (the
“Director Plan™) which was adopted in 1996, and the Long-Term Incentive Plan (the 1999 Plan™). The 1994 Plan and
the Director Plan were terminated and replaced by the 1999 Plan and was effective for options granted as of and from
October 25, 1999. Options outstanding under the 1994 Plan and the Director Plan remain in effect, but no new options
may be granted under those plans.

Under the 1999 Stock Option Plan, options to purchase Class A common shares are granted in the form of
both incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options. The number of options granted under this plan is
determined with each grant, except with respect to non-employee directors, who receive grants of non-qualified
options of 4,000 shares at the end of each fiscal quarter. The price of such grants is equal to the closing market price
of the shares on the date of grant. Options are exercisable based on the terms of such options, but no more than 10
years after the date of grant.

Options issued under the 1999 Plan typically vest ratably over a four-year period. Options issued under the
1994 Plan typically vest over a five-year period. Certain options issued under the 1994 Plan have cliff-vesting terms at
the end of a five-year period and terms which provide for the acceleration of vesting upon the attainment of specified
market prices for our common stock for a period of 60 days.

In the event of a “change in control” as defined in the 1999 Plan, 1994 Plan and Director Plan, respectively,
all outstanding options become fully vested and are subject to exercise.

Incéntive stock options and nonqualified stock options granted under the 1999 and 1994 Plans, respectively,
expire 10 years after the grant date unless an option holder’s employment is terminated. Under such circumstances,
the options typically expire three months from the date of employment termination.

Incentive and nonqualified options exercisable at December 31, 2005 and 2004 totaled 838,078 and 662,988,
respectively. Options available for grant at December 31, 2005, for the 1999 Plan are 335,566 shares.

The fair value of each option on the date of grant for 2005, 2004, and 2003 was estimated using the Black-
Scholes options pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: no dividend yield for all years;
expected volatility of 69.8% for 2005, 77% for 2004 and 137% for 2003; risk-free interest rate of 4.35% for 2005,
3.69% for 2004 and 3.79% for 2003; and expected option lives of 6.7 years for 2005, 4.2 years for 2004 and 6.9 years
for 2003.

The exercise price for 1,379,015 options outstanding at December 31, 2005, is between $1.00 and $12.94.

Such options will expire on average in 6.7 years. The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2005,
2004, and 2003 was $3.09, $5.04 and $2.30, respectively, on the date of grant.

48




j—-——«

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plans as of December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 and
changes during the years ended on those dates is presented below:

For the yea'rs ended December 31,

FYE 12-31-05 FYE 12-31-04 FYE 12-31-03
-~ Weighted Weighted . Weighted
Average Average Average
Shares Ex. Price | Shares. Ex. Price Shares Ex. Price
Outstanding, beginning of year 1,404,515 4.88 1,200,515 521 1,058,873 6.17
Options granted 173,500 4,53 458,250 447 333,000 2.45
Options exercised - - - - - -
Options cancelled  (170,250) 5710 0 - - - -
Options expired (28,750) 4.69  (254,250) 5.86  (191,358) 3.67
Qutstanding, end of year 1,379,015 4.74 1,404,5.15 485 1,200,515 5.21
Exercisable, end of year 838,078 5.28 662,988 583 - 616,640 6.18

The following table summarizes information about fixed stock options outstanding at December 31, 2005:

Options outstanding Options exercisable

Number Weighted Number

outstanding  average Weighted exercisable Weighted

at remaining  average at average

Range of exercise December  contractual  exercise December  exercise

prices 31, 2005 life (years) price 31, 2005 price

$1.00- 4.00 590,865 6.85 $3.08 322,990 $3.03
4.01- 8.00 618,150 7.19 $5.15 349,088 $5.60
8.01- 12.94 170,000 4.57 $9.02 166,000 $8.98
1,379,015 6.72 $4.74 838,078 $5.28

NOTE K - GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Segment Information

Numerex is a technology company comprised of operating subsidiaries that develop and market a wide range
of communications products and services. Our primary focus is wireless data communications utilizing proprietary
network technologies. The four reporting segments are Wireless Data Communications, which is made up of all of
our wireless machine-to-machine communications products and services, Digital Multimedia and Networking, which
includes our networking products and services and video conferencing products, Wireline, which is our wire-line
security detection products and services, and unallocated corporate expenses.

Wireless Data Communications Segment

The Wireless Data segment is a solutions provider of wireless machine-to machine (M2M) communications,
delivering comprehensive wireless solutions over the company’s proprietary wireless data network, CellemetryXG™.
The Company’s wireless data network is dedicated to the delivery of M2M communications throughout the United
States, Canada, Mexico, the Caribbean and much of Latin America. M2M is defined as electronic data
communications between people, devices, and systems that turn data into information that companies can act upon.

The Wireless Data segment develops, operates, markets, and sells products and services CellemetryXG™,
Cellemetry®, Uplink™, MobileGuardian™, and VendView™ brands, as well as distribution through Value Added
Resellers (VARs) who have integrated the CellemetryXG Network and components into their own offerings.

Digital Multimedia and Networking Segment

The Digital Multimedia and Networking segment systems permit network operators to provide a wide range
of video and data services, including Internet access, high-speed data transfer, and interactive video conferencing and
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voice service. The use of fiber optics in the broadband transmission network provides improved signal quality for
long-distance transmission, increased bandwidth, immunity to interfering signals, and significant cost savinigs and
reliability over coaxial cable-based network technologies. The Company markets it’s digital multimedia products and
services through a combination of system integrators and VARs.

In addition, Digital Multimedia and Networking segment provides products under the Digilog™ brand that
assist both wireline and wireless carriers in the engineering, installation, and servicing of this new telecommunications
control network. These telecommunications network operational support systems and services include system
integration (rack and stack) and installation, Test Access, and Interconnecting Devices.

Wireline Segment

The Wireline segment’s licensed technology creates a Derived Channel on an existing telephone line by
using an inaudible frequency below the voice communications spectrum for data transmission. This creates a two-
way communication system that continuously monitors the integrity of a user’s telephone line and security system.
Derived Channel operates over a regular voice telephone line with no interference, whether or not the telephone is in
use. The Company provides this service through its DCX Systems and DCX Australia subsidiaries.
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Financial information for each reportable segment is as follows as of and for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003: '

Year Ended December 31, 2005

Digital
Wireless Data Multimedia &
Communications . Networking Wireline Total
Revenues from external customers  $ 22,328 % 6,568 § 1050 § 29,946
Interest income _ 2 - 1 3
Interest expense v 2 5 1 8
Depreciation and amortization = 1,201 332 121 1,654
Income tax expense 44 4 4 ‘ 52
Gain on sale of assets - - ‘ - 0
Segment profit/(loss) before tax 956 107 11 1,074
Segment assets . 23,274 6,563 800 30,637

Year Ended December 31, 2004

Digital
Wireless Data  Muitimedia & .
~ Communications Networking Wireline Total
Revenues from external customers  § 14600 § 7402 § 991 $ 22,993
Interest income - 1 1 2
Interest expense 4 30 - : 34
Depreciation and amortization 1,312 495 120 - 1,927
Income tax expense : 4 2 (6) 0
Gain on sale of assets 250 - - 250
Segment profit/(loss) before tax (1,862) 402 77 {1,383)
Segment assets 23,954 6,815 - 1,153 31,922
Year Ended December 31, 2003
Digital
~ Wireless Data Muitimedia & )
Communications Networking Wireline Total
Revenues from external customers  $ 12,687 % 6,164 $ 1,306 $ 20,157
Interest income 3 1 2 ' 16
Interest expense 38 86 - 124
Depreciation and amortization 1,709 579 ' 107 2,395
Income tax expense o 23 3 66 - 92
Gain on sale of assets 1,712 - - 1,712
Segment profit/{loss) before tax {1,947) 320 468 {1,159)
Segment assets 21,763 . 9,514 1,562 32,839
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Net Loss

Total earnings (loss) for reportable segments

Unallocated corporate expenses
Net loss-

Assets

Total assets for reportable segments
Elimination of receivables from corporate
Other unallocated assets

Consolidated total assets

Otﬁer Significant Items

Year ended December 31, 2005
Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Income tax expense

Year ended December 31, 2004
Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Income tax expense ‘
Gain on sale of assets

Year ended December 31, 2003
Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Income tax expense -

Gain on sale of assets

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

$ 1,074 $  (1,383) $  (1,159)
(481) (696) (245)

$ 593§ (2,079)  $  (1,404)

" Year ended December 31,

52

2005 2004 2003
3 30,637 $ 31,922 % 32,839
- - (358)
5,711 690 1,489
$ 36,348 § 32612 § 33,970
Segment Unallocated Consolidated
Totals Corporate Totals
$ 3 $ 22 $ 25
11 325 - ¢ 336
8 303 - 31
1,654 186 1,840
) - 52
$ 2 § 1 3
34 606 640
32 605 637
1,927 121 2,048
- 9 9
250 - 250
16 17 33
124 263 387
108 246 354
. 2,395 175 . 2,570 -
92 - 92
1,712 . - 1,712




Information about the Company's operations in different geographic areas for the years ended December 31, 2005, | -
2004, and 2003 respectively, are as follows:

(in thousands) U.S. AuStralié A Consolidated
Net Sales B
2005 - Year k) 29,604 - § 342§ 29,946
2004 - Year ‘ 22,588 405 22,993
2003 - Year ~ 19,513 . 644 20,157

Operating profit/(loss)

2005 - Year 1,124 (163) 961

2004 - Year (1,496) (135) (1,631 .

2003 - Year 2911 - .. 185 (2, 726) S
Identifiable assets

2005 - Year o ‘ 1<35,173 1,175 © 36,348

2004 - Year - Ce 31,656 ) 956 - 32,612

2003 .- Year o » 32,757 . 1,213 © 33,970

NOTE L - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
AirDesk Acquisition — Unaundited

On January 5, 2006 the Company completed the acquisition- of the assets of AIRDESK, Inc. through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Airdesk LLC. The result Airdesk’s operations will be included in the consolidated financial
statements from this date. The assets relate to AIRDESK’s machine-to-machine (M2M) solutions and services
business in the United States and Canada. The acquisition solidifies the Company’s position as one of the market’s
most comprehensive wireless M2M networks and solutions provider. The acquisition aligns AIRDESK’s digital

M2M products and portfolio of industry-leading radio modules with the Company’s M2M network and services
platform.

The assets acquired consist of furniture, fixtures, equipment (consisting of hardware and software),
inventory, distribution rights agreements, accounts receivable, trademarks and other intellectual property, including
AIRDESK’s network gateway and billing system and “Airsource” database library.

Total consideration for the asset purchase is approximately $3,967,000 payable in the form of shares of the
Company’s common stock and the assumption of certain existing indebtedness of AIRDESK, Inc. In addition, if
certain revenue and other performance targets are achieved, the Company could issue an additional 300,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock (valued at approximately $1,500,000) over a three-year period.

The Company assumed approximately $2,382,000 of debt, of which $1,199,000 was paid in cash at closing
of the transaction as a reduction of part of the debt, and the balance of $1,183,000 is payable over a two-year period.
The Company also issued shares of common stock valued at approximately $196,000 to AIRDESK at closing and
deposited the remaining shares of common stock, valued at approximately $1,132,000, with an Escrow Agent.
AIRDESK retains voting and dividend rights to these shares while held in escrow. The Escrow Agent will release the
shares of common stock to AIRDESK over a two-year period in accordance with the terms of the Escrow Agreement.
In addition, the Company incurred approximately 257,000 of direct acquisition expenses that are included in the
purchase price.
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] The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
date of acquisition. The Company is in the process of obtaining third-party valuations of certain intangible assets;
thus, the allocation of the purchase price is subject to refinement.

(in thousands) At January 5, 2006

Current assets $§ 2525
Property, plant and equipment 444
Other non-current assets : 12
Intangible assets 2,255
Goodwill 1,637
Total assets acquired 6,873
Current liabilities (3,388)
Long-term debt {(700)
Total liabilities assumed (4,088)
Net assets acquired § 2,785

The $2,255,000 of acquired intangible assets was comprised of $1,510,000 assigned to customer
relationships, $668,000 assigned to trademarks, and $77,000 assigned to a non-compete. The estimated useful life of
the customer relationships is 9 years and the estimated useful life of the non-compete is 2 years. The trademarks are
not subject to amortization.

The $1,637,000 of goodwill was assigned to the wireless data communications segment.

Laurus Conversion

On February 6, 2006, Laurus converted $1,263,780 of our outstanding debt into 238,000 shares of common
stock. The result of this transaction was to eliminate our Second Note with Laurus, excluding the warrants issued with
the Second Note. These warrants along with the warrants issued with the First Company Note, which total 400,000,
remain outstanding. . :
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of
Directors of Numerex Corp. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Numerex Corp. and subsidiaries {the “Company”)
as of December 31, 2003, and 2004 and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income,
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for éach of the three years ended December 31, 2005. These financial statements

are the responsibility of the Company’s management Our responsxblhty is to express an opmlon on these financial
statements based on our audlts

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and-disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting pnncxples used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluatmg the overall financial statement presentanon We beheve that our audits
provide a reasonab]e basis for our opmxon

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Numerex Corp. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years ended December 31 2005 in conforrmty with
accounting principlés generally accepted in the Umted States of America.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic consolidated financial statements taken as
a whole. The Schedule II for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, listed in the Index at Item 15(a) is
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. This schedule
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic consolidated financial statements and,

in our opinion, i$ falrly stated in all material respects in relatlon to the basic consohdated ﬂnancxal statements taken as
a whole. +

/s/  Grant Thomton LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 23, 2006
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Aécounting and Financial Disclosure.
Not applicable.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures,

Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
management has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures.
Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that these disclosure
controls and procedures are effective as of December 31, 2005. No changes were made in the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting during the year ended December 31, 2005 that have matenally affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, the internal control over financial reporting.

PART 111
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant..

‘ Except as set forth above under “Business - Executive Officers of the Registrant,” the information required by
Item 10 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference from the Company's Proxy Statement relating to the 2005 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed pursuant to General Instruction G (3) to Form 10-K. Also incorporated by
reference is the information under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.”

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Incorporated by reference from the our Prdxy Statement relating to the 2005 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be filed pursuant to General Instruction G (3) to Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners.and Management and Related Stockhelder
Matters. . :

-Except as set forth below, the information required by Item 12 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference from

our Company's Proxy Statement relating to the 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed pursuant to General
Instruction G (3) to Form 10-K.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

(a) (b) )

Plan category

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance under
equity compensation plans (excluding
securities reflected in column (a))

Equity compensation
plans approved by
security holders

1,870,015

$4.89

199,263

Equity compensation
plans not approved by
security holders

Taotal

1,870,015

$4.89

199,263

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement relating to the 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
fited pursuant to General Instruction G (3) to Form 10-K.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services -

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement relating to the 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
filed pursuant to General Instruction G (3) to Form 10-K.
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PART 1V
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.,
{(a) Documents filed as part of this report:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements; All ﬁnéncial statemeﬁts of the Company as described in Item I of this

report on Form 10-K.
2. Financial statement schedule included in Part IV ofthls Form:

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 55
"Schedule ]I - Valuation and qualifying accounts . : : 59

3. Exhibits

2.1' Numerex Corp. and British Telecommunications plc, Agreement Relating to the sale and purchase of
the whole of the issued shares capital of Bronzebase Limited, dated November 12, 1999

2.2 Asset Transfer Agreement by and between Airdesk, LLC and A?rdesk, Inc., effective January 1, 2006
3.1° Amended and Restated Ar'ticies of Incorporation of the Company

3.2° Bylaws of the Company

4.17 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated January 28, 2005, by and Bétween the Company and Laurus
4.27 Convertible Term Note, dated January 28, 2005, by and between the Company and Laurus
4.3"-Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated January 28, 2005, by and between the Company and Laurus

4.4 Security Agreement, dated January 28, 2005, by and among the Company, its U.8S. subsidiaries, and
Laurus

4.5% Guaranty, dated January 28, 2005, entered into by each of the Company’s U.S. Subsidiaries, in
connection with the note payable issued to Laurus

4.6’ Registration Rights Agreement, dated January 28, 2005, by and between the Company and Laurus

10.1° The Numerex Corp. Savings and Profit Sharing Plan -- Summary Plan Descnptlon (Management
Compensation Plan)

10.2" Amended and Restated 1994 Employee Stock Option Plan (Management Compensation Plan)

10.3* Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors (Management
Compensation Plan)

10.4° Registration Agreement between the Company and Dominion dated July 13, 1992

10.5° Letter Agreement between the Company and Dominion (now Gwynedd) dated October 25, 1994 re:
designation of director

10.6°1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Management Compensation Plan)

11 Computation of Earnings Per Share

21 Subsidian’es of Numerex Corp.

23 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP.

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer

>32.] Rule 13a-14(b) Certification of Chief Executive Officer

32.2 Rule 13a-14(b) Certification of Chief 57Financia\l Officer




Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits filed with the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed w1th the
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 26, 1999 (File No. 0-22920)

Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on January 11,2006 (File No. 0- 22920)

Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits filed with the Company's Annual Repon on Form 10-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission for the year ended October 31, 1995 (File No. 0-22920)

Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits filed with the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on January 27, 1997 for the year ended October 31, 1996 (File No. 0-22920)

Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits filed with the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (File No. 33-89794})

4Incorp0ra.te‘d‘b_y reference to the Exhibit filed with the Combény's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 20, 1994 (File No. 0-22920)

Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits filed with the Company s Current Report on ‘Form 8-K Flled with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 3, 2005 (File No. 0-22920) ‘

Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits filed with the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2000 (File No. 0-22920)
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SCHEDULE 11
NUMEREX CORP.
- VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, 2003
(in thoils_ands)
Balance at Additions Balance at
Description beginning  charged to ‘ end of
of Period expense Deductions Period
Year ended December 31, 2005:
Accounts receivable
Allowance for uncollectible accounts 1,084 - 325 9 a 1,418 -
Inventory
Allowance for obsolescence 967 66 (716) b 317
Year ended December 31, 2004:
Accounts recetvable
Allowance for uncollectible accounts 609 475 1,084
Inventory
Allowance for obsolescence 681 286 967
Year ended December 31, 2003:
Accounts receivable
Allowance for uncollectible accounts 1,275 551 (1,217) a 609
Inventory ‘
Allowance for obsolescence 776 272 367) b 681

(a) Amounts written off as uncollectible, net of recoveries.
(b) Inventory physically disposed.

59




SIGNATURES

A

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NUMEREX CORP.

By:__/s/Stratton J. Nicolaides
Stratton J. Nicolaides, Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 13, 2006

- Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature ‘ 4 Capacity -~ Date
Stratton J. Nicolaides Chairman and Max;ch 13,320046
Chief Executive Officer :
Brian C. Beazer ' Director March"l 3, 2006'
George Benson ) | “ Dir;actor Marchl 13, 2006 |
Matthew J. Flanigan Director | .March 13, 2006
Allan H. Liu Director March 13, 2006
John G. Raos Director March 13, 2006
Andrew J. Ryan | ‘ Director March 13, 2006
Nicholas Davidge Director March 13, 2006
Alan B. Catherall Executive Vice President, March 13, 2006

Chief Financial Officer,
Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer
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